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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FREW|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Moody Technology Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”), | report to shareholders our annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year"” or “Period”).

RESULTS

The Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB140.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase of
approximately 54.9% as compared with the revenue of RMB90.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group's products
experienced a gross profits margin of approximately 10.6%, as
compared with a gross profits margin of approximately 8.2% from
previous year. Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the
Year increased from loss of approximately RMB140.5 million in 2022
to loss of approximately RMB811.4 million in 2023, representing an
increase of approximately 477.5% as compared with the last year,
which was mainly attributable to a loss on derecognition of financial
liabilities of approximately RMB756.2 million in 2023 (2022: Nil).
Sales of shoes, clothes and others contributed revenue amounted
to approximately RMB83.6 million (2022: RMB66.8 million) for the
year ended 31 December 2023. Sales of fabrics contributed revenue
amounted to approximately RMB13.6 million (2022: RMB23.7 million)
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Upon the completion of
the acquisition of new subsidiaries, the revenue from sales of elastic
webbings was approximately RMB31.8 million during the Year.
During the Year, the Group also commenced a new business in digital
marketing services which contributed revenue of approximately
RMB11.3 million.
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OUTLOOK

In 2023, the issue of the scheme shares to the scheme creditors had
been completed. It provided a solid foundation for the Company to
complete the acquisition of subsidiaries and develop new business
during the year. The Group had commenced the digital marketing
services business during the year, which mainly comprised of design
and production of media advertising. Through cooperating with
mainstream media and building up an experienced advertising team,
the management is confident that such a new business will further
increase the income source of the Group in 2024.

Furthermore, the management will continue our effort to explore
various business opportunities through mergers and acquisition to
strength the capacity of the Group. The management will also closely
monitor the Group’s financial performance, financial position and
cash flow in order to maintain the normal operation of the Group.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Lastly, | would like to express my gratitude on behalf of the Board
to all our stakeholders for giving the Group their care, patience and
support over the years.

Moody Technology Holdings Limited

Li Wanyuan

Acting Chairman and Executive Director
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEN WK D

OVERVIEW

During the Year, the Group's revenue increased from approximately
RMB90.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to RMB140.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Loss attributable to
owners of the Company increased by 477.5% to approximately
RMB811.4 million against last year. Basic and diluted loss per share
decreased from loss per share of RMB2.16 in 2022 to loss per share
of RMB0.24 in 2023.

INDUSTRY REVIEW

According to the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
of China, total profits of China’s major textile enterprises rose 7.2%
to RMB180.2 billion year-on-year in 2023. The combined operating
revenue of these firms stood at RMB4.70 trillion, edging down 0.8%
from 2022. China’s textile and garment exports hit US$293.6 billion
in 2023, down 8.1% from the previous year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group had four product segments (2022: two),
namely fabrics, shoes and clothing, elastic webbings and digital
marketing services. The Group's revenue also included sales of elastic
webbings upon the completion of acquisition of Leader Elastic Limited
and its subsidiaries on 28 April 2023 that their financial results had
been consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
In addition, the Group commenced a new business in digital
marketing services.

A subsidiary in Fujian was incorporated and commenced to
manufacture and sell different types of clothing products including
T-shirts, jackets, pants and hoodies, etc. to the customers mainly
in the PRC since the second half of 2022. In 2023, the local sales
of the products had a stable growth with an increase in average
sales amounts per customer (2023: approximately RMB1.0 million;
2022: approximately RMB0.2 million). Based on the performance in
the previous years, the profit margins of the local sales are higher
than the export sales of the clothing products, the Group hence
concentrated on the local markets and did not generate any revenue
from the export sales during the Year.

The Group'’s fabrics business was mainly manufacturing and sales
of dyed garment fabrics. The average price of fabrics products was
approximately RMB5.2 per meter in 2023 (2022: RMB5.2 per meter).
Since the management intended to put more effort and resources on
the new business segments of the Group in the second half of 2023,
the quantities of fabrics sold decreased from approximately 4.56
million meters in 2022 to approximately 2.61 million meters in 2023
which decreased the overall revenue from this product segment in
2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E# g

The Group's elastic webbings products comprised of certain types of
dyed strap, including jacquard tape, knitted strap and bundle strap,
etc. which were mainly manufactured and sold by Zhuhai Sundust
Technology Holdings Limited (formerly named as Zhuhai Sundust
Apparel Co. Ltd.) ("Zhuhai Sundust”), a public company incorporated
in the PRC whose shares are listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations in the PRC (Stock code: 872634), and its subsidiaries,
which were newly acquired by the Group during the Year.

The Group also developed a new business line in digital marketing
services which was under the business subgroup of Zhuhai Sundust
during the Year. During the period, the Group offers diversified
digital marketing services including performance-based advertising
services, display-based advertising services and short video exposure
services. To fulfill contracts with certain customers, the Group
enters into cooperation agreements with third party platforms
and places the advertisements of the Group's customers displayed
on third party platforms, such as Facebook, TapTap and Google.
Through cooperating with the mainstream media and building up an
experienced advertising team, the management is confident that such
a new business will increase the income source of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue mainly generated from sales of shoes and
clothes, manufacturing and sales of fabrics and elastic webbings and
provision of digital marketing services. The total revenue increased
from approximately RMB90.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB140.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The manufacturing and sales of clothing products in the PRC, which
was commenced by the Group in the second half of 2022, had a
stable growth in 2023 with an increase in average sales amounts per
customer (2023: approximately RMB1.0 million; 2022: approximately
RMBO.2 million), resulting in an increase in revenue from RMB66.8
million in 2022 to approximately RMB83.6 million in 2023. Based on
the performance in the previous years, the profit margins of the local
sales are higher than the export sales of the clothing products, the
Group hence concentrated on the local markets and did not generate
any revenue from the export sales during the Year.

For the products segments, the average price of fabrics products was
approximately RMB5.2 per meter in 2023 (2022: RMB5.2 per meter)
and the quantities of fabrics sold decreased from approximately 4.56
million meters in 2022 to approximately 2.61 million meters in 2023
which decreased the overall revenue from approximately RMB23.7
million in 2022 to approximately RMB13.6 million in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE Bt &k 747

The manufacturing and sales of elastic webbing comprised of sales of
certain types of dyed strap, including jacquard tape, knitted strap and
bundle strap, etc. The revenue contributed from this product segment
was approximately RMB31.8 million for the Year. In addition, the new
business segment of digital marketing services was commenced in
the second half of 2023, which contributed revenue of approximately
RMB11.3 million for the Year.

The table below sets out a breakdown of the Group's revenue
categorised by products during the year:

RERHEBEETEEEE S TRAREHS
BREREES HER REZ - AFEZEMDE
ERKREROAREIISES T UM R
T -FTHFEHREENNEH D BRFLEH
RGN AFEERMBEOARBINZEET

TR AKERANFEIRE RN B YRR

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t—-HLHEE

% to total % to total
2023 revenue 2022 revenue
1 48 U & 1 8 0 2
—E-=H Bak —E-

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETIT
Shoes, clothes and others EiE REREMBEE 83,620 59.6 66,849 73.8
Fabrics g 13,600 9.7 23,695 26.2
Elastic webbings o8 1 4 31,762 22.6 - -
Digital marketing services HFEHERB 11,314 8.1 - -
Total Bt 140,296 100.0 90,544 100.0

Cost of sales SHE R A

The Group's cost of sales increased by 50.9% from approximately
RMB83.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB125.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. Such increase in cost of sales was in line with the increased
turnover during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS BEEE stz & 247

The table below sets out a breakdown of the Group's cost of sales
categorised by products during the year:

TREHNARERANFERERD BRI HEKRAN
ARAN -

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+—-HLEE

% to total % to total
2023  cost of sales 2022 cost of sales
B EERE I BHERK A
—E_-= AL = BAL

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARET T
Shoes, clothes and others HE RELEMWEE 72,678 57.9 59,812 719
Fabrics T 13,315 10.6 23,336 28.1
Elastic webbings B AR 28,967 23.1 - -
Digital marketing services HTEHERB 10,526 8.4 - -
Total 4Bt 125,486 100.0 83,148 100.0

Gross profits EF

The gross profits of the Group increased from approximately RMB7.4
million, representing a gross profits margin of approximately 8.2% in
2022 to approximately RMB14.8 million, representing a gross profits
margin of approximately 10.6% in 2023. An increase in overall gross
profits margins was mainly attributable to the stable growth in the
local sales of clothing products with higher profits margins (2023:
13.1%; 2022: 10.5%) during the Year.

The table below sets out a breakdown of the Group's gross profits
categorised by products during the year:

REEBMNEFNBR-_ZZ_FHNNARBIAEE
TL(EFELDNAE2%)EME—T = =FHHA
REE148EE L (EFMEL E10.6% ) - BEEF|
EEMDEZAREFENREERABERS
TE T =H:131% 2 - "F:105%) &
HIHEEETIER

TR AKERANFRIZERD BNEFNAM:

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1t—-HLHEE

Gross profit Gross profit
2023 margin 2022 margin
—B-=F EfE T EH =

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBTT
Shoes, clothes and others g REREMHEE 10,942 13.1% 7,037 10.5%
Fabrics H 286 2.1% 359 1.5%
Elastic webbings o8 | A 2,794 8.8% - -
Digital marketing services T EHERE 788 7.0% - -
Total 4Bt 14,810 10.6% 7,396 8.2%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE Estsm K 7 7

Other income

An increase in other income by 31.8% from approximately RMB2.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB2.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 was mainly
attributable to the increase of interest income from placement of
fixed deposits as well as an increase in a consultancy fee income of
RMBO.7 million (2022: Nil) during the year.

Loss on derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group recognised a loss of approximately HK$858.1 million
(equivalent to RMB756.2 million) for the Year (2022 : Nil) from
the issue of the Scheme Shares in accordance with the relevant
accounting standards. Such loss was one-off and non-cash in nature
and did not have any effect on net equity deficit amounts in the
consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2023.

The Group recognised a loss on derecognition of financial liabilities
of approximately HK$858.1 million (equivalent to RMB756.2
million) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022 : Nil). Such
loss is recognised in accordance with the requirement of HK(IFRIC)
Interpretation 19 as a result of the issuance of 3,262,705,241 shares
at an issue price of HK$0.317 per share on 4 January 2023 to the
Scheme Creditors. The issue price is at a significant discount to the
closing market price on the relevant date i.e. HK$0.580 per share.
Such loss was reflected in the Group's consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2023 and in the contribution surplus of the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position and did not have any
impact on the net amount of the Group's capital deficiency as at 31
December 2023.

Net foreign exchange gains/losses

The net foreign exchange gains of approximately RMB9.1 million was
affected by the appreciation of RMB against HK$ in 2023. The net
foreign exchange loss of approximately RMB58.2 million was mainly
derived from the bonds principles and interests of approximately
RMB913.2 million (equivalent to HK$1,030 million) which were
dominated in HK$, as affected by the depreciation of RMB against
HK$ in 2022.

Selling and distribution expenses

The increase in selling and distribution expenses by 82.5% from
approximately RMB5.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately RMB10.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 mainly because more staff cost, travelling and entertainment
expenses were incurred during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E2 st 7m & 7 17

General and administrative expenses

The increase in general and administrative expenses by 27.3% from
approximately RMB32.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to approximately RMB40.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 was mainly attributable to (i) an increase in research and
development of RMB3.4 million from elastic webbings business; (ii)
an increase in legal and professional fees from approximately RMB4.7
million in 2022 to approximately RMB6.7 million in 2023.

Finance costs

The decrease in finance costs by 61.0% from approximately RMB52.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB20.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 was mainly
because of the Group did not incur any interests on bonds during the
year as compare to the accrual of the interest expenses for the bonds
in last year until the creditor’s scheme (the “Scheme”) has become
effective on 5 September 2022.

Income tax credit/(expense)

Income tax credit of approximately RMB31,000 was recognised for
the Year as compared to income tax expenses of approximately
RMBO.7 million recognised in 2022.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITIES AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year, the cash of the Group was mainly used in the
operating activities and generated from financing activities. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, net cash used in operating activities
of the Group amounted to RMB120.3 million as compared to
RMB12.5 million in 2022. Net cash generated from financing activities
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB140.0 million in 2023
as compared to net cash used in financing activities of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB12.2 million in 2022 mainly due
to increased proceeds from three placing of new shares completed
during the year.

Our primary uses of cash are to satisfy our working capital needs and
our capital expenditure needs. Since our establishment, our working
capital needs and capital expenditure requirements have been
principally financed through a combination of shareholders’ equity,
cash generated from operations, and borrowings. The Group adopts
a prudent cash and financial management policy.

In order to achieve better cost control and minimize the cost of funds,
the Group’s treasury activities and cash and cash equivalents are
generally deposited with certain financial institutions such as banks
denominated mostly in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars.

During the Year, the Company had completed the issue of scheme
shares and three placing of new shares.
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Issue of Scheme Shares

Pursuant to the resolution to approve the Scheme was duly passed
on 8 June 2022 and the Scheme has been sanctioned by the Hong
Kong Court on 28 June 2022, the Scheme has become effective
on 5 September 2022. The completion of issue of Scheme Shares
under specific mandate (the “Completion”) took place on 4 January
2023. An aggregate of 3,262,705,241 Scheme Shares were allotted
and issued to the Scheme Creditors at the issue price of HK$0.317
per Scheme Share for settlement of the all Admitted Claims of the
Scheme Creditors totalling approximately HK$1,034.3 million.

Upon Completion, all the Admitted Claims owing by the Company to
the Scheme Creditors, including all amount owing by the Company
under the Bonds (including the Notes), were discharged and released
in full.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s announcements
and circulars dated 11 November 2020, 11 April 2022, 18 May 2022,
9 June 2022, 28 June 2022, 21 July 2022, 5 September 2022 and
4 January 2023 respectively.

The First Placing

On 8 June 2023, after trading hours of the Stock Exchange,
the Company entered into the placing agreement (the "Placing
Agreement”) with China Sky Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”)
pursuant to which the Company appointed the Placing Agent as
its agent to procure not less than six placees to subscribe up to
200,000,000 placing shares (the “Placing Shares”) at a price of
HK$0.490 per Placing Share on a best effort basis on the terms and
subject to the condition of the Placing Agreement.

The Directors considered that the First Placing offered a good
opportunity to raise further capital of the Company thereby increasing
the liquidity of the shares as well as to strengthen the financial
position of the Group. The Directors considered that the terms of
Placing Agreement were fair and reasonable and the First Placing is in
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

On 3 July 2023, the First Placing was completed and an aggregate
of 133,690,000 Placing Shares were successfully placed by the
Placing Agent to not less than six placees at the placing price of
HK$0.490 per Placing Share. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, the
placees are third parties independent of the Company and not
connected nor acting in concert with any of the connected persons of
the Company or any of their respective associates.

MOODY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
2023 Annual Report

12

T EIR 01T
BEFBEM EZAB TR T =—_F AN
AEEABBAAESE ZTdlEen=2==
FRAZTNAEBSEA LR E WA ZE
T ZFNB R HBEM - FERR IR R %
TeEIRD ([ERER =S -_=ZF— AN
H{EE - & $£3,262,705,241 I 51 &1 I 1D 2 1% 3¢
TESKREEKRM0.3178 T3 31T Tt
EIEEA NEEFEEREANAMBERYRE
EEA,0343A BB T

RERE ARBEREERANMABERR
RE(BRARAREESR (BREB)MER
MBS R) WEEAER MRk

FHRARFBELORERAATERE T =
F+—A+—H ZZET-_-_FMWAE+—H"
T-__FRA+N\B-ZE-__FANB"
—E__HFANAZ+NB-ZEZ_=_F+tA
—+—B - ZEZ_FNLARARZZZE_=F
—BUBESAERBK-

F-XREBE
RZTE_ZFNANBBIHRIEERZ K
ANEHEARBLFERAA([EERE] )T
REHH Bt ARAEARERERER
BRE RS 5 T IR R H AR IR
RTIRERNDPRRNEBAREALGRES KRGS
0.4907% 7T #) & 1% 58 B8 &% %£200,000,0008% Fid &
B (TEEERB]) -

[1 Y

EERR F-AREREELARFE—FE
AIEHT R WM SE 00 A £ 80 7 B 1 3P 48 9
TASBZHBERR - EER R EEWHZ
FFRBAFARE BE-—REENAARFR
HERR BN -

F—AEEER-_ZE_=ZFELtA=ZBEK &
EREEESREERHB0.490B L2 BEERE
AR ) B & A $£133,690,0000% B2 & B% 1 F &~
MRANBERRA-KESEH—AEEHE
REEMM FMERAE ABEAABBIRA
AAZE=F BARAARZE@MBEALHE
T EALMETMBEER —HRT8-
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The Placing shares represented approximately 3.99% of the issued
share capital of the Company immediately before the First Placing
and approximately 3.83% of the issued share capital of the Company
as enlarged by the issue of the subscription shares immediately upon
completion of the First Placing. The net proceeds from the 2022
Placing of approximately HK$64.9 million were used as intended for
general working capital of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the First Placing
of approximately HK$64.9 million was fully utilized for general
working capital of the Group, of which (i) approximately HK$42.8
million for settlement of trade and other payables of the Group; (ii)
approximately HK$15.5 million for repayment of bank borrowings;
(i) approximately HK$1.6 million for staff costs; (iv) approximately
HK$3.4 million for legal and professional fees; (v) approximately HK$ 1
million for outstanding tax payables; (vi) approximately HK$0.6 million
for other administrative expenses of the Group.

Details of the First Placing are set out in the Company's
announcements dated 8 June 2023 and 3 July 2023.

The Second Placing

On 7 August 2023, after trading hours of the Stock Exchange,
the Company entered into the placing agreement (the “Placing
Agreement”) with China Sky Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”)
pursuant to which the Company appointed the Placing Agent as
its agent to procure not less than six placees to subscribe up to
100,000,000 placing shares (the “Placing Shares”) at a price of
HK$0.950 per Placing Share on a best effort basis on the terms and
subject to the condition of the Placing Agreement.

The Directors considered that the Second Placing offered a good
opportunity to raise further capital of the Company thereby increasing
the liquidity of the shares as well as to strengthen the financial
position of the Group. The Directors considered that the terms of
Placing Agreement were fair and reasonable and the Second Placing
is in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

On 30 August 2023, the Second Placing was completed and an
aggregate of 64,230,000 Placing Shares were successfully placed by
the Placing Agent to not less than six placees at the placing price of
HK$0.950 per Placing Share. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, the
placees are third parties independent of the Company and not
connected nor acting in concert with any of the connected persons of
the Company or any of their respective associates.
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The Placing shares represented approximately 1.84% of the issued
share capital of the Company immediately before the Second Placing
and approximately 1.81% of the issued share capital of the Company
as enlarged by the issue of the subscription shares immediately upon
completion of the Second Placing. The net proceeds from the Second
Placing of approximately HK$60.6 million were used as intended for
general working capital of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the Second Placing
of approximately HK$60.6 million was fully utilized for general
working capital of the Group, of which (i) approximately HK$41.3
million for settlement of trade and other payables of the Group; (ii)
approximately HK$15.3 million for repayment of bank borrowings
and interest expenses; (iii) approximately HK$1.7 million for staff
costs; and (iv) approximately HK$2.3 million for legal and professional
fees.

Details of the Second Placing are set out in the Company's
announcements dated 7 August 2023 and 30 August 2023.

The Third Placing

On 27 September 2023, after trading hours of the Stock Exchange,
the Company entered into the placing agreement (the “Placing
Agreement”) with China Sky Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”)
pursuant to which the Company appointed the Placing Agent as
its agent to procure not less than six placees to subscribe up to
100,000,000 placing shares (the “Placing Shares”) at a price of
HK$0.950 per Placing Share on a best effort basis on the terms and
subject to the condition of the Placing Agreement.

The Directors considered that the Third Placing offered a good
opportunity to raise further capital of the Company thereby increasing
the liquidity of the shares as well as to strengthen the financial
position of the Group. The Directors considered that the terms of
Placing Agreement were fair and reasonable and the Third Placing is
in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

On 20 October 2023, the Third Placing was completed and an
aggregate of 50,810,000 Placing Shares were successfully placed by
the Placing Agent to not less than six placees at the placing price of
HK$0.950 per Placing Share. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
information and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, the
placees are third parties independent of the Company and not
connected nor acting in concert with any of the connected persons of
the Company or any of their respective associates.
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The Placing shares represented approximately 1.43% of the issued
share capital of the Company immediately before the Third Placing
and approximately 1.41% of the issued share capital of the Company
as enlarged by the issue of the subscription shares immediately upon
completion of the Second Placing. The net proceeds from the Third
Placing of approximately HK$48.0 million were used as intended for
general working capital of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the Third Placing
of approximately HK$48.0 million was utilized for general working
capital of the Group, of which (i) approximately HK$34.3 million
for settlement of trade and other payables of the Group; (ii)
approximately HK$6.0 million for setting up a new subsidiary for
fabrics and textile business in Suzhou; (iii) approximately HK$0.6
million for staff costs; (iv) approximately HK$2.0 million for legal and
professional fees; and (v) approximately HK$5.1 million for other
general working capital of the Group.

Details of the Third Placing are set out in the Company's
announcements dated 27 September 2023 and 20 October 2023.

Net current assets and working capital
The following table sets forth the Group's current ratio, quick ratio,
gearing ratio and debt to equity as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

Current assets MBEE
Current liabilities mBEE
Net current liabilities MBBEFE
Current ratio BN =
Quick ratio mEPLE =
Gearing ratio EEBELX
Debt to equity ratio BRI A &
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BORROWINGS
Particulars of borrowings of the Company and the Group as at
31 December 2023 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s rights-of-use assets and
buildings, machinery and equipment with an aggregate net book
value of approximately RMB165.4 million were pledged to secure
banking facilities for purposes of working capital and purchases of
fixed assets for the Group (as at 31 December 2022: approximately
RMB147.4 million).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group mainly operates in the mainland China with most of
the revenue and expenditure transactions denominated and settled
in RMB, where its foreign exchange risk is limited. The Group’s
exposure to foreign exchange risk is mainly on its sales and purchase
transactions (i.e. export or import of products) in Hong Kong which
are mainly denominated in US$, and the bonds denominated in HKS.
The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is RMB
and HK$.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as those disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

Save as those disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any material investment.
Acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies
during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E# g

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total workforce of 190
(as at 31 December 2022: 167). The increase in staff was mainly the
net effect in (i) increase in staff from Zhuhai Sundust, (ii) increase in
recruited staff for digital marketing services, and (iii) decrease in staff
in both downsizing fabrics and clothing businesses during the year.
The total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments and retirement
benefit scheme contributions, of the Group were approximately
RMB31.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
approximately RMB10.7 million).

The Group offers its staff competitive remuneration schemes. In
addition, discretionary bonuses and share options may also be
granted to eligible staff based on individual and Group's performance.
The Group is committed to nurturing a learning and sharing culture
in the organization. Heavy emphasis is placed on the training and
development of individual staff and team building, as the Group’s
success is dependent on the contribution of all functional divisions
comprising skilled and motivated staff.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). As
there is no interim dividend payable during the year, there will be no
dividend distribution for the whole year of 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s shares
by the Company or its subsidiaries during the Year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as those disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any significant events after the
reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE Estsm K 7 7

THE AUDIT QUALIFICATION

As detailed in Note 3 to the annual report, the conditions existed
indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt regarding the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. In view of such circumstances, the Directors of the Company
had assessed the Group's current liquidity, performance and available
sources of financing in considering the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern.

The management’s position on the Audit

Qualification

The Directors have also taken or will continue to implement the
measures to mitigate the Group’s liquidity pressure and improve the
conditions of cash flow, and on the assumption of successful and
continued implementation of such measures, and taking into account
the Group’s cash flow projections which covers a period of not less
than 12 months from 31 December 2023, the management of the
Company and also the Directors are satisfied that it is appropriate
to prepare the Group’s consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Directors are of the view that the Group, based on
the continuing effort of the action plan as detailed below, will have
sufficient cash resources to satisfy future working capital and other
financing requirements as and when they fall due in the next twelve
months from the reporting date.

The consolidated financial statements have therefore been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which however depends on
the outcome of the continuing action plan, including:

(i)  the Group’s continued ability to negotiate with the creditor
banks to renew or extend the existing borrowings as they fall
due; and

(i) the Group's continued ability to generate operating cash flows
and obtain additional resources of financing to finance the
Group's businesses and other funding needs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E2 st 7m & 7 17

In this regard, the Auditor had requested for the Company to provide,
including but not limited to, (i) the duly signed extension agreements
in relation to the existing borrowings entered into between the
Group and the creditor banks and (ii) the duly signed agreements in
relation to the fund-raising activities with any potential investors. Up
to the date of the annual report, the Group has not entered into any
extension agreements with the creditor banks to renew or extend
the existing borrowings as they fall due. In addition, the Company
has been in discussion with a placing agent and potential investors
regarding a potential fund raising exercise by way of issuance of new
shares, but the major terms have not been concluded and no legally
binding agreement has yet been entered into by the Company with
any party for the potential fund raising.

Further to as set out in the annual report, in the view of (i) whether
the Group would successfully secure new financing from the
financial institutions to fund its operations and financial obligations
as and when they fall due as well as restructuring of the existing
borrowings by extending the payment schedule; (ii) whether the
Group would have successful negotiations with the lenders of the
defaulted borrowing that they will not take any actions against the
Group to exercise their rights to demand immediate payment of the
principals and interests of these borrowings; (iii) whether the Group
would successfully obtain external source of funding from potential
investors by issuance of new shares; and (iv) the Group’s ability to
generate operating cash flows to meet the Group’s ongoing funding
needs as well as successfully control operations costs and capital
expenditure, and implement various strategies to enhance the Group's
revenue, which may constitute the possible cumulative effects on
the consolidated financial statements, the Auditor disclaimed their
opinion on the consolidated financial statements in respect of the
material uncertainty relating to the going concern basis (the “Audit
Quialification”).
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Audit Committee’s view towards the Audit

Qualification

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) had
critically reviewed the Audit Qualification and also the Directors’
position and Action Plan (as defined below) of the Group to address
the Audit Qualification. The Audit Committee is in agreement
with the Directors with respect to the Audit Qualification and the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, and in particular the
Action Plan to be implemented by the Directors or the Group. The
Audit Committee’s views are based on (i) a critical review of (a) the
Directors’ Action Plan to address the Audit Qualification (and the
assumption of successful and continued implementation), and (b) a
review of the Group’s cash flow projections which covers a period
of not less than 12 months from 31 December 2023, and also (ii)
discussions between the Audit Committee, the Auditor and the
Directors regarding the Audit Qualification. The Audit Committee is
also of the view that the Directors shall and continue its efforts in
implementing the Action Plan with the intention of mitigating the
Group’s liquidity pressure and removing the Audit Qualification.

Status and results of the action plan of the Group to
address the Audit Qualification for the year ended
31 December 2023

Reference is made to the Company's announcements dated 23
October 2020, 9 September 2021 and 30 June 2022 in relation to,
among others, the action plans (the “Action Plan”) of the Company
to address and remove the audit modification for the years ended 31
December 2020, 2021 and 2022, and the announcements dated 11
November 2020, 11 April 2022, 18 May 2022, 9 June 2022, 28 June
2022, 5 September 2022, 4 January 2023, 28 August 2023 and 30
August 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 21 July 2022
(the “Circular”) in relation to, inter alia, the Scheme. Unless otherwise
defined, terms used herein shall bear the same meanings as defined
in the aforementioned announcements and the Circular.
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(ii)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E2 st 7m & 7 17

Implementation of the Scheme

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 4
January 2023, an aggregate of 3,262,705,241 Scheme Shares
were allotted and issued to the Scheme Creditors at the issue
price of HK$0.317 per Scheme Share for settlement of the
all the Admitted Claims of the Scheme Creditors totaling
approximately HK$1,034.3 million (equivalent to RMB911.5
million). Upon Completion, all the Admitted Claims owing by
the Company to the Scheme Creditors, including all amount
owing by the Company under the Bonds (including the Notes),
have been discharged and released in full.

As such, the Group’s current borrowings decreased from
approximately RMB955.0 million as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB200.4 million as at 31 December 2023. The
Group's non-current borrowings decreased from approximately
RMB121.1 million as at 31 December 2022 to Nil as at 31
December 2023.

Negotiation with the local creditor banks in the PRC
to renew or extend the existing bank borrowings
owed by the PRC subsidiaries of the Group in Hubei
and Fujian

As at 31 December 2023, the secured bank borrowings and
unsecured bank borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB147.7 million and RMB52.7 million, respectively, which
includes the current bank borrowings (the “Current Bank
Borrowing”) of approximately RMB37.5 million (2022: RMB60
million) and the overdue bank borrowings (the “Overdue Bank
Borrowing”) amounted to RMB162.9 million (2022: RMB103.0
million).

The Overdue Bank Borrowing were defaulted by (a) Shishi City
Yingfeiling Supply Chain Management Limited (“Yingfeiling”),
the Company’s subsidiary in Fujian; (b) Fengtai (Hubei) Textile
Co. Limited (“Fengtai Hubei”); and (c) Hongtai (Hubei) Sales
Co., Limited (“Hongtai Hubei”), both the Company’s subsidiaries
in Hubei, due to temporary shortage of funds. The Overdue
Bank Borrowings in relation to Yingfeiling, Fengtai Hubei and
Hongtai Hubei of approximately RMB45.7 million, approximately
107.1 million and approximately RMB10.0 million have become
overdue since the financial year ended 31 December 2017 and
31 December 2023, respectively. The Overdue Bank Borrowings
in relation to Hongtai Hubei have become overdue since the
financial year ended 31 December 2023.
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Up to the date of the annual report, the Company is still in
the process of negotiating with the relevant banks on the
terms of extension of the Overdue Bank Borrowings and
has yet to receive any update as to the expected timeline of
entering into of the extension agreement. As at the date of
the annual report, the Company has not received any demand
for immediate payment of the Current Bank Borrowings, and
is not expecting to receive any of such demand given the past
communications with the relevant banks. The Company will
continue to follow up with the banks in relation to further
extension of the repayment of the Current Bank Borrowing by
their due dates and will try to convince the relevant banks not
to demand for repayment of the Overdue Bank Borrowings
until the entering into of the relevant extension agreements.
In addition, the Company is also considering the feasibility to
repay the Overdue Bank Borrowing by the Company's fund
raising activities or selling certain of the Group'’s property, plant
and equipment in Quarter 2 or 3 of 2024.

The following table demonstrates the Overdue Bank Borrowings
and penalty interests payable of the Group as at 31 December
2023:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EE Bt &k 747

BEAFHRAHY AQRDEAHABRITE
BT RAMRTERGRERRKDE
BRI L E R 2 AR 2 E [ E 2
AR -RAFHRBAH AREHAKBE
AR XNETHRITERNER B
ENBERABRTZER BRI
AEMBERER - ARAMGHEERITR
EE - S ERBMRITERNERPIR
THEARBREBERITTIENETLEH
FE 17 55 A B SR B R B HISRIT A 3R - kN -
ARBTEZBABEBARAR ZEEE
IR T _MEEF_FEHE=FE
HEAKBZETYE BERXRENT
ANEEBRRITEROATITIE

T-_=F1+=AH

TRBRAEER-F
TTERREMNER

=t+—BZEHR

RMB'000
AREFTT

Principal owed by Yingfeiling BEREBR 2K E 45,729
Principal owed by Fengtai Hubei LIS R 2R $ 107,136
Principal owed by Hongtai Hubei BARMICEE R 2 K% 10,000
Penalty interests ZE 18,249
Total T 181,114

2 2 MOODY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
2023 Annual Report



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E2 st 7m & 7 17

Fengtai Hubei

On 13 May 2020, a claim was brought by Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China Limited Huanggang Huangmei
Branch (F B TERITIRH AR QR EMEHZIT) ("ICBC
Branch”) against Fengtai Hubei for payment of an outstanding
principal of approximately RMB6.3 million together with an
outstanding interest of approximately RMB2.2 million. On 3
December 2020, the Huanggang Intermediate People’'s Court
of Hubei Province (#dit& =W Hf A RERR) issued a
civil judgment (RZ ¥k %), pursuant to which the court
ordered Fengtai Hubei to repay the outstanding principal and
all outstanding interest accrued thereon. As per the agreement
with the ICBC Branch, Fengtai Hubei is currently repaying the
debts by installment. Since 1 January 2023 to the date of the
annual report, Fengtai Hubei had repaid the outstanding sum
amounted to approximately RMBO.11 million to ICBC Branch.

Fengtai Hubei will continue to repay the Overdue Bank
Borrowings (including the outstanding sum mentioned in the
legal action above) by installment depending on its liquidity.
Pursuant to the bank loan agreements entered between
Fengtai Hubei and the creditor banks, Fengtai Hubei is subject
to penalty interest expenses until the full repayment of the
overdue loans.

Hongtai Hubei

Pursuant to the bank loan agreements entered between
Hongtai Hubei and the creditor banks, Hongtai Hubei is subject
to penalty interest expenses until the full repayment of the
overdue loans.

Save as disclosed above and up to the date of the annual
report, the local creditor banks have not demanded immediate
repayment for its overdue loans, and the Company has not
been informed of any further legal actions taken by the banks
in relation to the Overdue Bank Borrowings.
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(iii)

(iv)

24

Yingfeiling

Upon the forced sale of the buildings in Shishi (details of
which are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 20
April 2020), the operation of Yingfeiling had been suspended
since April 2020. Based on the audited financial information
as at 31 December 2023, Yingfeiling had net current liabilities
of approximately RMB160.5 million and net liabilities of
approximately RMB126.4 million. Based on the above,
Yingfeiling does not have sufficient funds to repay the Overdue
Bank Borrowings. Up to the date of the annual report, the
Company has not been informed of and there are no further
legal actions taken by the banks in relation to the Overdue Bank
Borrowings. The Group will continue its effort to negotiate with
the banks for the extension of the Overdue Bank Borrowings.

Fundraising from the financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company had
completed the issue of the Scheme Shares and three placing of
new shares of which the details were disclosed as above.

The Group will continue to generate operating cash flows and
seek other alternative financing, including but not limited to
the placing of new shares by general mandate and/or specific
mandate if necessary in the Quarter 2 or 3 of 2024.

Exploring new business opportunities

Acquisition of Leader Elastic Limited

On 28 April 2023, the Group completed the acquisition of
80.95% equity interests of Leader Elastic Limited (”Leader
Elastic”), a company with limited liability incorporated under the
laws of Hong Kong. Leader Elastic owns approximately 84.14%
issued share capital of Zhuhai Sundust Apparel Co. Ltd, a public
company established in the PRC whose shares are listed on the
National Equities Exchange and Quotations in the PRC (stock
code: 832674). The principal activity of Leader Elastic and its
subsidiaries is investment holding and sales of elastic webbing
used for bras, underwear in the PRC. The consideration for the
acquisition was HK$21,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB18,546,000).

The acquisition was in line with the Company’s business
strategy to expand the Company’s business in the production
and the sales of elastic webbing used for bras and underwear,
and strengthen the products, revenue sources and cash flow
position of the Group in future.
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Since the acquisition, Leader Elastic Group has contributed
revenue of approximately RMB43,076,000 to the Group's
turnover and loss of approximately RMB10,516,000 to the
Group's profit for the period between the date of acquisition
and the end of reporting period.

Development of new business segment

The Group also developed a new business line in digital
marketing services which was under the business subgroup
of Zhuhai Sundust during the Year. During the period, the
Group offers diversified digital marketing services including
performance-based advertising services, display-based
advertising services and short video exposure services. To
fulfill contracts with certain customers, the Group enters into
cooperation agreements with third party platforms and places
the advertisements of the Group’s customers displayed on third
party platforms, such as Facebook, TapTap and Google. Through
cooperating with the mainstream media and building up an
experienced advertising team, the management is confident
that such a new business will increase the income source of the
Group. Such new business segment contributed to the Group’s
revenue of approximately RMB11.3 million with segment
profit of approximately RMB0.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Save for the above, the Company will continue to approach
other various potential business partners for the development of
the Group’s new business, such business partners are engaged
in various industries including but not limited to environmental
protection and garment business, etc. When evaluating the
potential business development opportunities, the Company
takes into account of the profitability, assets and liabilities level,
cash flows as well as industry prospects of such businesses, with
an objective to enhance the Company’s financial performance.
Up to the date of the annual report, the Company is still in
preliminary negotiations with these business partners and
no agreements has been made between the Company and
any of these business partners. The Company will publish an
announcement to as and when appropriate should any formal
agreements have been made by the Company.
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The views of the Directors (including Audit
Committee) on the effectiveness of the plan to

resolve the Audit Issue

Based on the Company’s discussion with the Auditor, the Board
is given to understand that if all of the above Action Plan had
been completed as at 31 December 2024, the Audit Qualification
would not have been issued. The Auditor has advised the Directors
that as the Audit Qualification relates to a going concern issue, in
preparing the financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2024, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern and the appropriateness of
preparing the Group's consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis, based on the conditions and circumstances as at 31
December 2024. In accordance with the Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing, the Auditor needs to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, and to conclude, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors’ assessment of the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern as at 31 December 2024 would need to take into
consideration of the then conditions and circumstances and also
include cash flow projections covering a period of not less than 12
months from 31 December 2024. As such, the Auditor is unable
to ascertain whether the Audit Qualification can be removed in the
next financial year based purely on the Action Plan, given sufficient
appropriate audit evidence is yet to be obtained regarding the
Directors’ future assessment as at 31 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E# g

Having said that, the Audit Committee considers that the proposed
Action Plan would still be effective in assisting the Company to
remove the Audit Qualification in the next financial year given that,
in particular, the Company is contemplating to conduct further fund-
raising activities to generate cash flows, and the proceeds generated
thereof can be used by the Company to fully or partially to settle the
Current Bank Borrowings and Overdue Bank Borrowings. In addition,
the Company will also consider selling certain property, plant and
equipment to fully or partially settle the Current Bank Borrowings and
Overdue Bank Borrowings. Therefore, assuming if (i) the Company
and the creditors (including the local creditor banks in the PRC) have
come up with a preliminary plan in settling the outstanding debts,
and/or the Current Bank Borrowings and Overdue Bank Borrowings
can be settled by the proceeds generated from the future fund-
raising activities conducted by the Company or proceeds for disposal
of property, plant and equipment; and (ii) there is a satisfactory
completion of review of the Directors’ assessment of the Company’s
going concern by the Auditor together with sufficient and appropriate
evidence, the Audit Qualification is expected to be removed in
connection with the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ending 31 December 2024.

Impact of the Audit Qualification on the Company’s
financial position

Should the Group fail to achieve the Action Plans, it might not be
able to continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying value of the
Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities. The
effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERRE

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
"CG Code"”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate
governance. The manner in which the principles and code provisions
in the CG Code are applied and implemented during the year ended
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report (the
“Period”) is explained in this Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company was committed to maintaining high level of corporate
governance and has steered its development and protected the
interests of its shareholders in an enlightened and open manner. The
Board comprises three executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Board has complied with the applicable
code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year save
for code provision C.1.8.

Code provision C.1.8 of the CG Code stipulates that the Company
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its Directors. Currently, the Company does not consider
necessary to have insurance cover for legal action against its Directors
and will monitor any changes to the situation and make necessary
action. The Board believes with the current internal control system
and the close supervision of the management, the Directors’ risk
of being sued or getting involved in litigation in their capacity as
Directors is relatively low.

The Company will, from time to time, review and enhance its
corporate governance practices to ensure that these continue to meet
the requirements of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding dealings in
the securities of the Company by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiries, all the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the Year. Employees who are likely to be in possession
of inside information of the Company are also subject to compliance
with guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the businesses, strategic decisions and performance of
the Group. The Board has delegated to the executive Directors and
senior management the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board
has established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference.

All Directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company
and its shareholders at all times.

Board Composition
The Board currently comprises six members, consisting of three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

The Company has throughout the Period met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors with at least one independent non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, and
accounting or related financial management expertise. At all times
during the Period, the independent non-executive Directors represent
at least one-third of the Board.
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The Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Li Wanyuan (Acting Chairman)

Mr. Liu Junting (Redesigned as executive director and appointed as
Chief Executive Officer on 2 August 2023)

Ms. Lin Yuxi

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chow Yun Cheung

Mr. Lin Yugang

Mr. Li Gang (Appointed on 2 August 2023)

A description of the biographies of the Directors is set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

The list of Directors is also disclosed in all corporate communications
issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to
time. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified
in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship with each other.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

As at the date of this annual report, the Acting Chairman of the
Company, Mr. Li Wanyuan, leads the Board in the determination of
the strategy of the Group and in the achievement of its objectives. He
is responsible for organizing the business of the Board, ensuring its
effectiveness and setting agenda but not involved in the day-to-day
business of the Group.

Mr. Liu Junting has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company since 2 August 2023. The duties and responsibilities of
the Chief Executive Officer of daily operation of the Group are carried
out by the executive Directors and they are accountable to the Board
for financial and operational performance of the Group.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting
of the Company, one third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. The Directors to retire by rotation shall
include any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself
for reelection. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of
the other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been
longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that
as between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on
the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. Any Director appointed pursuant to
Bye-law 83(2) shall not be taken into account in determining which
particular Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by
rotation.

The following Directors will retire by rotation and offer themselves for
re-election in the forthcoming AGM to be held on 24 May 2024:

Ms. Lin Yuxi
Mr. Liu Junting
Mr. Li Gang
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The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are laid down in the Company’s articles of association.
Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
any new Director appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and be eligible for re-election and any Director appointed as an
addition to the Board shall hold office until the next annual general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be eligible
for re-election. Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates
will be proposed and put forward to the Board by the Nomination
Committee.

Induction and Continuing Development of Directors
Each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive induction
on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company should be responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training, as well as placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of the Directors.

During the Period, the Company has provided seminars for the
Directors on updates of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The
Directors are also encouraged to keep up-to-date their knowledge of
directors’ duties and responsibilities by reading relevant materials or
attending relevant training courses.

Board Meetings
Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Directors’ resolutions were passed by way of written resolutions or by
physical meetings during the Period. The Board is expected to meet
regularly and at least two times a year. The Directors have full access
to information on the Group and independent professional advice at
all times whenever deemed necessary by the Directors.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review and
approve the Group's annual and interim results. During the year and
up to the date of this annual report, 3 Board meetings were held and
attendance of each Director at the Board meetings as well as general
meetings in 2023 is set out as follows:

EEeEHeEmATdmAREERRIEALE
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CERLBRRGHFERHINMT

Annual Special

Board General General

Meetings Meeting Meeting

[ IR

Board member EEEgHE EEged BEXRE HAlKE

Executive directors BITES

Mr. Li Wanyuan (Acting Chairman) FETEE (HEFE) 3/3 1/1 171

Mr. Liu Junting BMEE LA 33 171 171

Ms. Lin Yuxi MBERLZ L 3/3 11 171
Independent non-executive BYFHITES

directors

Mr. Lin Yugang FEM £ 33 171 171

Mr. Chow Yun Cheung EREL A 3/3 11 11

Mr. Li Gang M5 & 3/3 0/1 0/1

The Company has to comply with the CG Code provisions with
regard to the conduct of meetings, has annual meeting schedules and
draft agenda of each meeting made available to directors in advance
and serve notice of regular Board meetings to all directors at least 14
days before the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is required to be given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information have to be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before
each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep Directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company
and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each
Director also have separate and independent access to the senior
management where necessary.

The Bye-laws contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) on
27 March 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with
the CG Code. The Company also established a regulatory compliance
committee (the “Regulatory Compliance Committee”) on 26 February
2014.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises three members namely
Mr. Li Wanyuan, Mr. Lin Yugang, and Mr. Chow Yun Cheung. Mr.
Li Wanyuan was appointed as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee on 2 August 2023.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board structure and composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
succession planning of directors, and assessing the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors based on criteria such as
integrity, accomplishment, experience, professional and educational
background and time commitments.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The director nomination policy of Company aims to set out the
criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of directors
of the Company; ensure that the board (the “Board”) of directors
of the Company has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company; and ensure the Board
continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.
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Criteria for nomination and appointment of

Directors
The criteria for selecting any candidate for directorship are set out as
follows:

o bringing an independent judgment and making constructive
recommendation on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

o taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

o serving on the Audit Committee, and the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee (in the case of
candidate for Non-Executive Director) and other relevant Board
Committees, if invited;

o devoting sufficient time to the Board and/or any Committee(s)
on which he or she serves so as to allow them to benefit
from his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and
qualifications and diversity through attendance and participation
in the Board;

o scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of
performance;

o ensuring the Nomination Committees on which he or she serves
to perform their powers and functions conferred on them by
the Board; and

o conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that
may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained
in the constitutional documents of the Company or imposed by
legislation or the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an INED, his or her
independence shall be assessed in accordance with, among other
things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject
to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from time
to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider
whether he or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise for filling the
office of an INED with such qualifications or expertise as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Nomination process
(a) Appointment of New Director

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting

36

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
also review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.
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Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a
candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant information
of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or
applicable laws and regulations.

(c) Re-election of INED at General Meeting

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the circular
to shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting:

(i)  the process used for identifying the individual and why
the Board believes the individual should be elected
and the reasons why it considers the individual to be
independent;

(i) if the proposed INED will be holding their seventh (or
more) listed company directorship, why the Board believes
the individual would still be able to devote sufficient time
to the Board;

(iii)  the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

(iv)  how the individual contributes to diversity (including
gender diversity) of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and this Policy and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and business needs,
to comply with all applicable laws and regulations from time to time
and maintain good corporate governance practice.
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On 27 March 2014, the Board adopted a board diversity policy which
aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. All
Board appointments will be based on merit while taking into account
diversity including gender diversity. The Nomination Committee will
regularly review the measurable objectives to ensure its effectiveness
to achieve diversity on the Board. The following measurable objectives
have been set for implementing the board diversity policy:

. inclusion of candidates for Board members with overseas
working experience (outside of PRC);

o ensuring that there is no limitation on gender on selection of
Directors;

o inclusion of candidates for Board members with working
experience in other industries; and

o inclusion of candidates for Board members with knowledge and
skills in different aspects.

As at the date of this annual report, the above objectives have been
achieved, 1 out of 6 members of the Board has overseas working
experience and 2 out of 6 members of the Board have accounting or
other professional qualifications.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year. During
the year and up to the date of this annual report, two committee
meetings were held to review the structure and composition of the
Board and the re-election of the retiring Directors and attendance of
each member is set out as follows:
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Number of meetings

attended/held

Committee member ZE8NE HE T BITEERE

Mr. Li Wanyuan FELEE (RZE_=ZFNH_HEZ 172
(appointed as chairman on 2 August 2023) ERFE)

Mr. Lin Yugang MFR S & 2/2

Mr. Chow Yun Cheung BN e 2/2
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The Nomination Committee has adopted a written nomination
procedure (the “Nomination Procedure”) specifying the process
and criteria for the selection and recommendation of candidates
for directorship of the Company. The Nomination Committee shall,
based on those criteria as set out in the Nomination Procedure (such
as appropriate experience, personal skills and time commitment etc.),
identify and recommend the proposed candidate to the Board for
approval of an appointment.

New Directors, on appointment, will be given an induction package
containing all key legal and Listing Rules’ requirements as well as
guidelines on the responsibilities and obligations to be observed by a
Director. The package will also include the latest published financial
reports of the Company and the documentation for the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Board. The senior management
will subsequently conduct such briefing as is necessary to give the
new Directors more detailed information on the Group's businesses
and activities.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members who are all
the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lin Yugang, Mr.
Chow Yun Cheung and Mr. Li Gang. Mr. Lin Yugang is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations on and approving the remuneration
policy and structure and remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration Committee
is also responsible for establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no
Director or any of his associates will participate in deciding his own
remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as well as market
practice and conditions.

REZESGCHRMENEEINHEH 2RREZERF
(TR EF]) ARIAXARAEFHREAZ
BEMEERFMER -RBAZESHRIER
ARFAECZEFEA (MRELR BARK
EREEEES) VERAMEZTSHEERE
ARTFHERE-

MESTHEZERBER —EABRERXMH
HAMATR AR EMBRAURE UREH
EERETZEEREB 2 - BERXHFTR
BRARARFI RO ZHMBEREREFTSEMN
ZEXEEARRXMH - RREEBERKRNA
FERREHFIN IAFEFTRELAKTEEXD
KRB 2 FHHE R

FMEES

YFMEZEERE=Z2XKE AMNFHEE F
BEEEMRBREEE (2B RBIUIFNTE
B) o MFHEERFTHEZEEGER -

FINZEe TRk BEREEBERERNT
EENEREBABZHFMERRREBIA LS
Mrrd - FMEBEETAERIABZHEZRE
Fr DASE R A B8 3 B BOR 2R 48 - 1 T RE AR R
BEMESIHEABRBEAS2EETEARY
ZEH ERFME2REBARARRARE
A Re T 45 18 Bl B ik e i 5€ o

MR ERAAERLQT
2023 FEWRE

39



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1t ¥ B A

]

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year. During
the year and up to the date of this annual report, two committee
meetings were held to review and discuss the existing policy and
structure for the remuneration of Directors, the remuneration
packages of both the executive and non-executive Directors and
attendance of each member is set out as follows:

H

YWz EesFEeHEL —R-RFARE
ERNFHRARERITM K%E\@@%J«MMT&

AWBEITRELRESOTFHRE ARNTE
ENFRATEENFHEFE SHENHER
T

Number of meetings
attended/held

HE
Committee member ZEgHE BITFBRH™
Mr. Lin Yugang (chairman) MFMFEE (F/E) 2/2
Mr. Chow Yun Cheung EEER A 2/2
Mr. Li Gang (appointed on 2 August 2023) BEEE (W -_=ZFN\A_BEZT) 1/2

The Remuneration Committee confirms that the remuneration
payable to Directors will depend on their respective contractual terms
under their employment or service contracts as approved by the Board
on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee.

FMEZE R Fﬂ#%%Z i B 5 AR T i B
éEAI‘?§$QkTA BB ER  WIEK
FEEZEBIMBANAZENIGEHRMERE -

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration  RIE 2 E AT IR ST BHE X EBEN 516 24k
of the senior management for the year ended 31 December 2023 is EEEREBEZ-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HILHF
set out below: B2 H BT T

Number of individuals
In the band of #iE AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/8 7T 1
Audit Committee ERZEES
The Audit Committee comprises three members who are the BEZZESRE=ZKE HABELLE K

independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chow Yun Cheung,
Mr. Lin Yugang and Mr. Li Gang. Mr. Chow Yun Cheung is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

o To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the staff responsible for
the accounting and financial reporting function, internal auditor
or external auditors before submission to the Board,;

o To review the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees
and terms of engagement, and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditors; and

o To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee oversees the internal control system of the
Group, reports to the Board on any material issues, and makes
recommendations to the Board.

AR E

EZZEE@TIERAEBRTIRE:
EREFERIMBHRER MBS ATEMZ
EUHHRREBE XEEABEELK
MERBBENE T N Ebtz BRSNS
BB PTIR AV EREARIEFRIAR

s HESERBEMETIIF REBERR
BRI et ESNIS AZ BREM AV BE R - X
SOMNEZBENET BRRERANES
SIELER K

EHNARANPBERRELS AEEER
GEhEBREERGARBEBEFONTD
HRBRIZE -

ERREQEBEAKRENMEEZRGE MES
EREEMERFRINEETSREES -

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. During the year BERZES@SFEASEHEI MR -NFARLE
up to the date of this annual report, three committee meetings were ZARFREFERIT A ZE8e2 % SKE
held and the attendance of each member is set out as follows: B E RN AT
Number of meetings
attended/held
HE
Committee member ZEgHE BITEBRRY
Mr. Chow Yun Cheung (chairman) BAEEEE (£E) 3/3
Mr. Lin Yugang MRFM S & 3/3
Mr. Li Gang (appointed on 2 August 2023) Bl ( RZZE_=FN\NA_BEZE) 2/3
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During the meetings held in 2023 and the first quarter of 2024, the
Audit Committee had performed the work as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed by
the external auditor regarding the final audit of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “2023 Final Audit”);

(i)  reviewed the external auditor's report of findings and audit
opinion in relation to the 2023 Final Audit for the year ended
31 December 2023;

(i)  reviewed the management accounts of the Group and the
Group's 2023 interim financial statements;

(iv)  reviewed the financial report for the six months ended 30 June
2023;

(v) reviewed the Company’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management systems to ensure that management has
discharged its duty to have effective systems;

(vi) reviewed the Company's financial and accounting policies and
practices;

(vii) reviewed the external auditor's management letter, material
queries raised by the external auditor to the management, if
any, in respect of the accounting records, financial accounts
or systems of control and the management’s response to such
queries; and

(viii) reported to the Board on the matters set out in the Code on
the Audit Committee.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of
the external auditors.
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Regulatory Compliance Committee
The Regulatory Compliance Committee comprises of two members,
namely Mr. Li Wanyuan and Mr. Tse Kwok Hing Henry.

The primary duties of the Regulatory Compliance Committee are
to ensure that the Group's business operations and activities are
in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations, and the
Regulatory Compliance Committee directly reports to the Board.

The Regulatory Compliance Committee shall meet at least once a
year. During the year, one committee meeting were held to review
and discuss the compliance status of the existing business operations
and activities, with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
Hong Kong and the respective jurisdictions if applicable. Attendance
of each member is set out as follows:

AR E

EEAREES
%%%ﬁ?%@@%ﬁ%&%-ﬂ?%ﬁ%i
Fe 8 B 0 5 4

ﬁ*MAi‘Ei/\ ENEIEZRELSBRAEEER
RERERSHETHBZEIRER EEAREER
CEHEMNESE®RE-

I
M T8
\\\

)

EEARZBERAEIEBFRTRERE-F
Wgﬁﬁfﬁiiéﬁ@aﬁ’uﬁﬁ&ﬁ ]
EBLERAPBTHE BERZAIEZER
B (@A) ARBEN SERNIBR - FKE
R E &I

\

Number of meetings

attended/held

HES

Committee member ZEERE HITEEHE
Mr. Li Wanyuan (Executive Director) TELRE(HTEE) 171
Mr. Tse Kwok Hing Henry (Company Secretary) — #iB B4 (2N amjf# ) il

GOING CONCERN ISSUE

The Group incurred a loss of approximately RMB816,320,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities
and capital deficiency of approximately RMB339,788,000 and
RMB146,126,000 respectively as at 31 December 2023. In addition,
as disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, as at
31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings of approximately
RMB200,371,000 are subject to renewal or to be fully repaid within
the next twelve months, of which approximately RMB162,864,000
were overdue. Furthermore, The Group recorded net operating
cash outflow of approximately RMB120,283,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023 with the Group's total bank and cash balance
remaining at a low level of RMB17,377,000 as of 31 December 2023.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

BFEKEEH
HE_Z_ZF+-_A=+—HILFE &X&
BELBENARES16,320,0000 MR -=
—=HF+ZA=+—H AEEFRHEEF
BN ERE 4D R4 AR ®339,788,0000T &
AR #146,126,0007T ° i 5N - 20 & B B 75 5] 3%
s 2siE R_E_=F+_-_A=+—8"
NEB# ARE200,371,0007C 8 R 171 KB
EESIRAR T Z@EARNBHERN ERHA
R #162,864,000;tE @ Hi - SN NEE RN E
EZE_=F+ A=+ HLFEHELE
BE&RHFEHARE120,283,0000 E&EHZE
ZEZ=F+ZA=F+—H AEENHRTE
REEBRBHEHEFEARM17,377,000T 1K
M- ZEBRRPFTEERTHIAREZE ] 4
UAREBRFELSERENERERERB - ALt
AEEJREEZIRNETERBEPEREER
EBEEG-
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Having carefully considered the liquidity and working capital
requirements for the next twelve months, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on going concern basis. Certain
plans and measures have been or will be taken by director of the
Company to mitigate the Group’s liquidity pressure and to improve its
cashflows which include, but are not limited to, the following:

(@ The Group will negotiate with certain financial institutions,
including the existing major lenders, for options of restructuring
of the Group’s existing borrowings or new financing;

(b)  The Group will continue its ongoing efforts to convince the
lenders of the defaulted borrowing not to take any actions
against the Group for immediate payment of the principals and
interest of these borrowings;

(c)  Obtain external source of funding from potential investors by
issuance of new shares; and

(d)  The Directors of the Company have been taking various cost
control measures to tighten the costs of operations and capital
expenditure and implementing various strategies to enhance
the Group's revenue.

The Directors of the Company are of the opinion that, considering the
abovementioned plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within twelve months from 31
December 2023. Accordingly, they are satisfied that it is appropriate
to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.
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Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainties exist as to whether
the Group will be able to achieve its plans and measures as described
above. Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern would depend upon the following:

(@ successfully securing new financing from the financial
institutions to fund its operations and financial obligations as
well as restructuring of the existing borrowings to extend the
payment schedule;

(b)  successful negotiations with the lenders of the defaulted
borrowing that they will not take any actions against the Group
to exercise their rights to demand immediate payment of the
principals and interests of these borrowings;

() successful obtain external source of funding from potential
investors by issuance of new shares; and

(d) the Group's ability to generate operating cash flows to meet
the Group's ongoing funding needs as well as successfully
controlling operations costs and capital expenditure, and
implementing various strategies to enhance the Group's
revenue.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated financial
statements, to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of directors
and other significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with
a view to ensure that Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the executive Directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions and responsibilities are
periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board
prior to any significant transactions entered into by the aforesaid
officers.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which
are put to the Board for approval.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Reports in this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal
control system to safeguard shareholder investments and Company
assets and with the support of the Audit Committee, reviewing the
effectiveness of such system on an annual basis. The Group has
developed its systems of internal control and risk management. The
internal control system of the Group is designed to facilitate effective
and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of financial reporting
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations, to identify and
manage potential risks and to safeguard assets of the Group.

Certain internal control deficiencies were identified and reported to
the Board. The Group is ongoing to locate an internal control advisor
to review the internal control system of the Group, and conduct
remedies for any deficiencies identified on considered necessary in
due course.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s auditor, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA
Limited, amounted to approximately RMB996,000 in respect of the
annual audit service.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent
auditor's independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the audit
process. It receives letter every year from the independent auditor
confirming their independence and objectivity and holds meetings
with representatives of the independent auditor to consider the scope
of its audit, approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of
non-audit services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee
also makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
retention of the independent auditor.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company, Mr. Tse Kwok Hing Henry,
is a full-time employee of the Group. Please refer to his biographical
details as set out on page 52 of this annual report.
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Rights of Shareholders to Convene a Special General
Meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58, the Board may whenever it thinks fit call
special general meetings, and members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the secretary of the Company, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance
with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda.

Sending Enquiries to the Board and Procedures

for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

Shareholders or investors can contact the Company in the following
ways to make enquiry or to provide suggestions:

Contact Person: Mr. Tse Kwok Hing Henry, Company Secretary

Postal Address: 20/F Infinitus Plaza, 199 Des Voeux Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

To put forward proposals at a general meeting, the shareholders
should submit a written notice of those proposals with detailed
contact information to the company secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business stated above.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company also recognises the importance of transparency
and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The
Company continues to enhance communication and relationship with
its investors. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an informative
and timely manner.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
would be proposed for each substantially separate issue at
shareholder meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company's constitutional documents are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Wanyuan (ZEJ7t) (“Mr. Li") has been appointed as the
Acting Chairman and Executive Director of the Company with effect
from 22 October 2021. Mr. Li, aged 61, is an entrepreneur. In 1999,
he started running factories and founded Zhuhai Wanyi Enterprise
Co., Ltd. (KRB EBELEABMRAA), which mainly engaged in
sales of electrical machinery and equipment and provision of repair
and maintenance services in PRC. In April 2003, Mr. Li founded
Zhuhai Xiangzhou Wanxin Electrical (ER)8 &M B EZETT)
which was mainly engaged in wholesale of electrical products. In
December 2003, Mr. Li started to engage in webbing business and
founded Zhongshan Nan Qu Wanlong Webbing Factory (/LI 7 [&
BRI .

Mr. Liu Junting (Z/{£%E) ("Mr. Liu”), aged 34, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 23 October 2019 and redesignated as an executive director of
the Company and serve as the chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from 2 August 2023. Mr. Liu graduated from Beijing
Institute of Technology in July 2013 and completed a marketing
course at Glyndwr University, United Kingdom in July 2014. Mr. Liu
has over ten years of experience in corporate finance, group strategic
planning, investment, management and business development. From
June 2022 to April 2023, Mr. Liu served as an executive director and
joint-chairman of the board of directors of Gaodi Holdings Limited
(formerly known as China Shenghai Group Limited), a company listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1676).

Ms. Lin Yuxi (#4&E) ("Ms. Lin") has been appointed as the
Executive Director of the Company with effect from 15 October
2020. Ms. Lin, aged 34, graduated from University of East London
and obtained a degree of bachelor of arts in business management
in 2014. After graduation, Ms. Lin gained extensive experience in
corporate management and strategic planning. Before joining us,
Ms. Lin was the director of general department of Beijing Tengyuan
New Energy Technology Consultancy Service Limited (4t 5 R #7 8%
R EARBERAR) .
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Yun Cheung (FAEE) (“Mr. Chow") has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company
with effect from 13 August 2019. Mr. Chow, aged 44, has over 20
years of experience in accounting, corporate finance and compliance
fields. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration in
2001 from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chow
had served as an independent non-executive director of various listed
companies in Hong Kong, including (i) Hon Corporation Limited (stock
code: 8259, the shares of which were delisted on 22 June 2022) from
January 2022 to May 2022; (ii) Echo International Holdings Group
Limited (stock code: 8218) from January 2021 to March 2023; and (iii)
Gaodi Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Shenghai Group
Limited) (stock code: 1676) from November 2022 to July 2023.

Further, Mr. Chow has been serving as an independent non-executive
director of Sterling Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1825) since
January 2024 and would commence to serve as an independent non-
executive director of Lapco Holdings Limited (stock code: 8472) since
1 April 2024. The issued shares of both companies are listed on the
Stock Exchange.

From February 2018 to September 2023, Mr. Chow had been
appointed as a non-executive director of Industronics Berhad (stock
code: 9393), the issued shares of which are listed on Bursa Malaysia
(the stock exchange in Malaysia). He has been re-designated as an
independent non-executive director of the same company since
September 2023.
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Mr. Lin Yugang (#=FRI) (“Mr. Lin"), aged 55, graduated from
Sun Yat-Sen University with a bachelor's degree in management,
and completed the master’s program in accounting at the School of
Management of Sun Yat-Sen University in 2008. From 1987 to 2001,
he served in the Department of International Business at the Bank
of China for a total of 14 years, where he was primarily responsible
for reviewing offshore letters of credit. Subsequently, he became
an industry expert and was the youngest director of a branch in
Zhongshan City. Mr. Lin was released from work for studying in Sun
Yat-Sen University during 2003, and subsequently resigned from his
position at the Bank of China and successfully founded a number
of companies. Currently, he works at IR ARIEREERE
fR A7) (Zhongshan City Xunxiang Equity Investment Management
Company*), and also holds the positions of director and financial
controller at EEXHE (ER)IRREFFABR QA (Chemeida
(Guangdong) Environmental Technology Limited*). Mr. Lin is a
banking and finance professional and an industry veteran in the field
of international trading.

Mr. Li Gang (ZHl) (“Mr. Li”) has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company with effect from
2 August 2023. Mr. Li, aged 44, graduated from Hunan Xiangtan
University. He has over 20 years of experience in strategic consulting
and finance. Since 2020, he serves as a partner in several companies
including Huamin Equity Investment and Fund Management
(Shenzhen) Limited, Boao Business Consulting (Guangzhou) Limited
and Bohuai Consulting (Shenzhen Corporate) LLP, who is mainly
responsible for the financial projects including investment, merger
and acquisition.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing Henry (“Mr. Tse”), aged 39, has been
appointed as the company secretary of the Group with effect from
7 November 2019. Mr. Tse has extensive experience in accounting,
auditing and finance fields. Mr. Tse obtained a bachelor’s degree
of Business Administration in Accounting and Finance from the
University of Hong Kong in 2007. He is currently a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr. Tse was the chief financial officer and company secretary of China
Yuanbang Property Holdings Limited, the issued shares of which
are listed on the main board of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (Stock Code: BCD.SI) from April 2016 to May 2018.
Mr. Tse has been appointed as an independent non-executive director
of China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1237) since 1 September 2022. He also served as
independent non-executive director of CROSSTEC Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 3893) since 20 July 2023. The issued shares of
both companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to present
the annual report of the Company with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is engaged in sales of shoes, clothes and others in Asia
and the design, manufacturing and sales of fabrics in the People’s
Republic of China. The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. Details of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Group is engaged in the sales of shoes, clothes and others, and
manufacturing and sale of fabrics and yarns. Business analysis of
sales, segment results, total assets and capital expenditure are set out
in note 8 to the accompanying financial statements.

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

The Group's revenue mainly came from two main geographical areas,
the Mainland China and Korea. Geographical analysis of the Group
are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For details of business review in relation to the development,
performance or position of the Company’s business, please refer to
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintaining
the highest environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable
development of its business. To the best knowledge of the Directors,
the Group has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group in relation to its business
including health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and
the environment. The Group understands that a better future depends
on everyone's participation and contribution. It has encouraged all
employees to participate in environmental and social activities which
benefit the community as a whole.
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Thanks to its active engagement in the enhancement of management
measures and technology improvement, the Group incurred less unit
electricity consumption and expenses in production as compared to
that of last year. The Group also advocated conservation of resources
in office and encouraged employees to develop good habits, conserve
resources and energy to build a green and comfortable office
environment. The Group will issue a separate environmental, social
and governance report for the year ended 31 December 2023 in due
course with the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. As at 31 December 2023, no reserve of the Company was
available for distribution (2022: Nil).

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable and other donations during
the year (2022: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of and reasons for movements in the share capital of the
Company during the year under review are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to
the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 163 to 164 of this
annual report.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights over shares of the
Company under the Company’s Bye-laws (the “Bye-laws"”) or the laws
of Bermuda where the Company is incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.

AUDITOR

The Board has appointed McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA
Limited (“McMillan Woods") with effect from 10 February 2020
to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Worldlink.
McMillan Woods will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company on 24 May 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report are as follows:

Executive directors

Mr. Li Wanyuan (Acting Chairman)
Mr. Liu Junting

Ms. Lin Yuxi

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Lin Yugang

Mr. Chow Yun Cheung

Mr. Li Gang
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The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, a confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management”.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Pursuant to Bye-law 84, at each annual general meeting of the
Company, one third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include
any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-
election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other
Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest
in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that as
between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on
the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. None of the Directors has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to the service contracts entered into by each of executive
directors as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ services
contracts” above, each of Mr. Li Wanyuan, Mr. Liu Junting and
Ms. Lin Yuxi is entitled to a monthly salary of HK$30,000, HK$20,000
and HK$20,000, respectively. In addition, pursuant to the above
service contracts, each of them is also entitled to a management
bonus in respect of each financial year in such sum as the Board
may in its absolute discretion determine aggregate amount of
management bonuses payable to all directors.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) for
the benefit of the Directors of the Company is currently in force and
was in force throughout the year.
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INDEPENDENCE OF
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors confirmation of his/her independence and the
Company considers that each of them to be independent based on
the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT NON-

REPORT EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to
the Board on the remuneration and other benefits paid by the
Company to the Directors by reference to the Company's operating
results, individual performance and comparable market rates. The
remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by
the Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their
remuneration and compensation are appropriate.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total workforce of 190
(as at 31 December 2022: 167). Employee costs including directors’
emoluments totalled RMB31.8 million for the year of 2023 (2022:
RMB10.7 million). The Group recruited and promoted individual
persons according to their strength and development potential. The
Group determined the remuneration packages of all employees
including the Directors with reference to individual performance and
current market salary scale.

The Group regularly reviews the emolument package of the existing
employees, considers increment of salaries and conducts some long
term incentive scheme when appropriate.

Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 14(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

A. Directors’ Interests in the Shares of the
Company
As at 31 December 2023 and the date of this annual report,
none of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company, any of its Group members or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Future Ordinance (“SFO")) which were notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code.

B. Substantial shareholders’ interests in the shares
of the Company
As at 31 December 2023 and the date of this annual report, so
far as the Directors are not aware of any persons (not being a
Director of the Company) had or were deemed to have interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or who will, directly or indirectly, be interested in 5% or more
of the Company’s issued share capital.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted the share option scheme on
27 March 2014, and such scheme has become effective on the
Listing Date (the “Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to recognize and acknowledge the contribution
of the eligible participants made to the Group. The Board may, at its
discretion, grant options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to
Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors), the
Company’s subsidiaries, employees of the Group and other persons
the Board considers have contributed or will contribute to the Group.
The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company (i.e.
100,000,000 shares), unless otherwise approved by the shareholders
of the Company in general meeting and/or other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules. The subscription price of a share
in respect of a particular option shall be not less than the highest of
(a) the official closing price of the Shares on the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange; (b) the average official closing price of the
shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and ()
the nominal value of a share. The Share Option Scheme shall remain
effective within a period of 10 years from that date.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2016, 50,000,000 share options and
50,000,000 share options were granted and exercised, respectively,
representing maximum number of shares to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme. For details of the share option scheme, please
refer to page 57 to 58 of the 2016 annual report and page 44 to 45
of the 2015 annual report, respectively.
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Share options granted

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the date of grant is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding
increase in equity. For the share options granted by the Company,
when they are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will continue to be held in share options reserve. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
other reserve will continue to be held in other reserve.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, was a party and in
which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year. No
contract of significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group’s largest and five largest customers were 5% and 17% of the
Group’s total sales respectively (2022: 13% and 31%). The aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest suppliers
were 25% and 43% of the Group's total purchases respectively
during the year under review (2022: 17% and 49%).

During the year, none of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholders (who to the knowledge of the Directors owned more
than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company) had any interest
in any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE2 &=

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Being people-oriented, the Group ensures all staff are reasonably
remunerated and continues to improve and regularly review
and update its policies on remuneration and benefits, training,
occupational health and safety. The Group maintains a good
relationship with its customers. A customer complaint handling
mechanism is in place to receive, analyse and study complaints and
make recommendations on remedies with the aim of improving
service quality. The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers
and conducts a fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers on an annual
basis.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or subsisted during the year under
review.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No connected transactions were incurred during the year ended
31 December 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, from the Listing Date
and up to the date of this report, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued share
capital as required under the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board intends to adopt a prudent dividend payment policy
which will base on the main factor of the Group'’s profitability for the
year. The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of any
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). As
there is no interim dividend payable during the year, there will be no
dividend distribution for the whole year at 2023.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company comprises the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the Regulatory
Compliance Committee as described from page 34 to 43 of this
annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS EE&€ &=

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

Each of the Directors has confirmed that he is neither engaged, nor
interested, in any business which, directly or indirectly, competes or
may compete with the Group’s business.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

The controlling shareholders of the Company, has entered into a
deed of non-competition on 27 March 2014 (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) so as to better safeguard the Group from any potential
competition and to formalise the principles for the management
of potential conflicts between them and to enhance its corporate
governance in connection with the listing of the shares on the Stock
Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors were not required to review
any matter in relation to compliance and enforcement of the Deed of
Non-Competition during the Period.

On behalf of the Board

Li Wanyuan

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

To the members of Moody Technology Holdings Limited

(Joint and Provisional liquidator appointed for restructuring purpose)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Moody Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 162, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion,
the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
RMB816,320,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023, and as at
31 December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities and capital
deficiency of approximately RMB339,788,000 and RMB146,126,000,
respectively. In addition, as disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank
borrowings of approximately RMB200,371,000 are subject to
renewal or to be fully repaid within the next twelve months, of
which approximately RMB162,864,000 were overdue. Furthermore,
the Group recorded net operating cash outflow of approximately
RMB120,283,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 with the
Group’s total bank and cash balance remaining at a low level of
approximately RMB17,377,000 as of 31 December 2023. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of
plans and measures to improve the Group's liquidity and financial
position, which are set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the
outcome of these plans and measures, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties, including:

a.  successfully secure new financing from the financial institutions
to fund its operations and financial obligations as and when
they fall due as well as restructuring of the existing borrowings
by extending the payment schedule;

b.  successful negotiations with the lenders of the defaulted
borrowings that they will not take any actions against the
Group to exercise their rights to demand immediate payment of
the principals and interests of these borrowings;

c.  successful obtain external source of funding from potential
investors by issuance of new shares; and

d.  the Group’s ability to generate operating cash flows to meet the
Group’s ongoing funding needs as well as successfully control
operations costs and capital expenditure, and implementing
various strategies to enhance the Group's revenue.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT & 3 #% 2{ Eifi 3R &

As a result of these multiple uncertainties, the potential interaction
of these uncertainties, and the possible cumulative effect thereof, we
were unable to form an opinion as to whether the going concern
basis of preparation is appropriate. Should the Group fail to achieve
the abovementioned plans and measures, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have
to be made to write down the carrying value of the Group's assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and to issue an auditor’s report solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purposes.
However, because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hui Chi Kong

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number — P07348

24/F., Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai
Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
EHEEREMEEKBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F-_—Ff—FA=1—AIFE

2023 2022
—E-= S
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T ARBEF T
Revenue U&= 9 140,296 90,544
Cost of sales fHE KA (125,486) (83,148)
Gross profit EF 14,810 7,396
Other income HA 10 2,808 2,130
Loss on derecognition of financial liabilities ~ #X RS R & E 2 E18 13 (756,228) -
Impairment losses of trade and g 5 L EH MW IR E
other receivables E518 (13,039) (1,049)
(Impairment losses)/reversals of impairment B3 E 2 CREEE),
losses of prepayments A B 1B # (D (1,719) 382
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) FEN IS (Fi18) 358 9,099 (58,183)
Selling and distribution costs SHE K B (10,805) (5,922)
General and administrative expenses — R RITBAE (40,751) (32,005)
Loss from operations BEEER (795,825) (87,251)
Finance costs BhE KA 11 (20,526) (52,585)
Loss before tax MRBATEE (816,351) (139,836)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigfisEe, (M%) 12 31 (662)
Loss for the year FREE 13 (816,320) (140,498)
Other comprehensive loss, Hih2EEE MNRBiIE
net of tax
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently ~ E&rJEEFH D BEIEH
to profit or loss: ZIEE
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations &5 =% (2,318) -
Other comprehensive loss FREMZEER
for the year, net of tax MR I8 (2,318) -
Total comprehensive loss FREEEBELE
for the year (818,638) (140,498)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME S4B R Hftt 2 E M &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—g—= —T— -

—_= — e

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTIT

Loss for the year attributable to: UTATEEFEFAEES:

The owners of the Company ViN/NEIE7 P SN (811,388) (140,498)

Non-controlling interest SEfE R (4,932) -
(816,320) (140,498)

Total comprehensive loss for the year UTATEEFEFAZE

attributable to: EiEAE:

The owners of the Company ZIN/NETEZ =N (812,770) (140,498)

Non-controlling interest SEfE R T (5.868) -
(818,638) (140,498)

Loss per share BREER

Basic (RMB) ER(ARK) 16(a) (0.24) (2.16)

Diluted (RMB) PN 16(b) (0.24) (2.16)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GRS

At 31 December 2023
R-ZF=Z=#1+=F=1+—H

2023 2022
—E-= S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BRE KRB 17 178,589 168,459
Right-of-use assets FHRESE 18 31,677 16,693
Investment in an associate R—REBE R MR E 19 - -
210,266 185,152
Current assets REBEE
Inventories BE 20 46,598 10,409
Other current assets HErsEE 21 1,136 -
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E N FRIE 22 35,042 46,299
Bank and cash balances SRITRIB S 58 23 17,377 1,298
100,153 58,006
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b S 5RIE 24 236,833 328,831
Borrowings B 25 200,371 955,030
Lease liabilities HEaE 26 2,711 213
Current tax liabilities BNEAf B & E 26 681
439,941 1,284,755
Net current liabilities REBEETHE (339,788) (1,226,749)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERABERE (129,522) (1,041,597)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION & ff B 3 AR % 3

At 31 December 2023
REFE-Z=4F1-_HF=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= -T2
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T ARBEFIT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Borrowings & 25 - 121,093
Lease liabilities HEaE 26 2,295 171
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEAE 28 2,147 -
Deferred income PRIEU A 27 12,162 12,474
16,604 133,738
Net liabilities EEFE (146,126) (1,175,335)
Equity Ex
Share capital f& A 29 318,424 7,753
Reserves Gl 30 (477,277) (1,183,088)
Equity attributable to owners of RARER A
the Company (LR (158,853) (1,175,335)
Non-controlling interest AR A 12,727 -
Capital deficiency 1% S 5 At (146,126) (1,175,335)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on WR_-ZT_HHE=HF -+ \BEEZE=ES LT

28 March 2024. ¥E B o
Li Wanyuan Liu Junting
ZER 2B E
Director Director
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SO ERSEH R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F-_—Ff—FA=1—AIFE

Non-
Share  Contributed Capital Statutory  Translation Accumulated controlling
capital surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Subtotal interest Total
e Rl AERE R ER Nt FERER @it
(note 29(3)  (note 29(b))  (note 29()
(329)) (B52900)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 4431 678,025 113510 2,151 - (1,867.914)  (1,047,797) - (1,047,797)
Issue of new shares under general
mandate (notes 29(b) and 29(c)) 9(6)5229(c)) 1,974 4225 - - N - 6,199 - 6,199
Placing of new shares under REREHRIH
general mandate (note 29(d)) 1529()) 1,348 5,664 - - - - 7012 - 7012
Share issue expenses BUEGER - (251) - - - - (251) - (251)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEELE
- Loss for the year -EREE - - - - - (140498)  (140,498) - (140,498)
Changes in equity for the year EREREY 3302 9,638 - - - (140,498) (127,53%) - (127,538)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
7153 687,663 113,510 2,151 - (008412) (1,175,335 - (1,175339)
Issue of Scheme Shares (note 29(¢)) BT ERA (KE29() 287539 1,380,187 - - - - 1667726 - 1667726
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 36) WIEKELR (K6 - - - - - - - 18,595 18,595
Placing of new shares under general RE-BRRERERRH
mandate (notes 29(f), 29(g) and 29(h)) (Ht&E29(f) - 29(g) R 29(h)) 8132 139,630 - - - - 162,762 - 162,762
Share issue expenses BYEGL 5 - (1,236) - - - - (1,236) - (1,236)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERREERLR
- Loss for the year -ERER - - - - - (811,388)  (811,388) (4932)  (816,320)
- Other comprehensive loss -Hit2EER - - - - (1,382) - (1,382) (936) (2318)
Changes in equity for the year ERERED 310671 1,518,581 - - (1382 (811,388) 1,016,482 107 102920
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZ%+ZB=t-H 318,424 2,206,244 113,510 24,151 (1382)  (2:819,800) (158,853) 12,721 (146,126)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EOHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE—FE =+ _HA=+—HIFEF

2023
—g—=

Note RMB’000
Y & ARBT

REFHHEHRTRE

Cash flows from operating activities

2022
e

— e

RMB'000
ARBTIT

Loss before tax BRI ATE R (816,351) (139,836)
Adjustments for: HTIEIBIEL T
Amortisation of deferred income IR RE R A 55 (312) (312)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERRBITE
equipment 17,237 21,791
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREENE 3,028 648
Finance costs A KA 20,526 52,585
Loss on derecognition of financial liabilities 42 |FFER TR EEZEIE 13 756,228 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE EFREH
plant and equipment pd Ec 8 -
Gain on the termination of right-of-use RILERAREERR
assets (8) (326)
Impairment losses of trade receivables E 5 REIIE 2 R EE 1S 44 1,093
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment — E b JE U518 2 BB E5 18
losses) of other receivables S OREREEE) 12,995 (44)
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment TE N FRIE R EE 18
losses) of prepayments S/ CREBERD) 1,719 (382)
Interest income B A (231) (8)
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses BN (Wa) B8 FE (1,650) 68,571
Operating (loss)/profit before EEEAREHFILL
working capital changes (E8), &7 (6,767) 3,780
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL, (M) 5,368 (8,397)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and H 5 &AM FENRIE
other receivables W, (3En) 9,457 (29,710)
Increase in contract costs B XA N (1,137) -
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B o5 M EMER IR
other payables CRd) /1 (124,064) 22,018
Cash used in operations KEARS (117,143) (12,309)
Income tax paid ERETEH (882) -
Interest paid on lease liabilities ERHEEEENE (226) (46)
Interest paid on borrowings BB A A (2,032) (97)
Net cash used in operating activities KRETEMARSFE (120,283) (12,452)

7 2 MOODY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
2023 Annual Report



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS St & RER

Cash flow from investing activities
Purchases of items of property,

REFHHEHRETRE

Note RMB’000
B & AR®T

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Bz ZFES A= —HIEFE

2023 2022
—_E_= S

RMB'000
ARBTIT

plant and equipment HEIEE (1,273) (663)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME KBE
plant and equipment uxfﬁﬁﬁ?:af?i 60 -

Interest received 2 WORLE 231 8

Acquisition of subsidiaries s BE B /B A ) 37 (2,857) -
Net cash used in investing activities REZHFMAREFH (3,839) (655)
Cash flow from financing activities RETEBRERE

Borrowing raised E5EN 42,327 -

Repayment of borrowings BEEXR (61,239) (338)

Principal element of lease payments HENREEH (2,594) (452)

Proceeds from issue of shares TTHx@FﬁEﬁK - 6,199

Proceeds from placing of shares Eﬂ’iﬂxfﬁﬁﬁﬁ#\ 162,762 7,012

Share issue expenses M1 3BTRS (1,236) (251)
Net cash from financing activities METEMEBRESFE 140,020 12,170
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRREEEYEM

cash equivalents OR2) 38 15,898 (937)
Effect of foreign exchange rate change NEEZR&FH & 181 -
Cash and cash equivalents R—B—BZEER

at 1 January REZEY 1,298 2,235
Cash and cash equivalents R+=—HA=+—-HZ2

at 31 December RERREEEY 17,377 1,298
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEBYIN
Cash and bank balances B & MIRTT4 23 17,377 1,298
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Moody Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
on 29 April 2013. On 23 May 2019, the board of directors
of the Company (the “Board”) has been de-registered in
the Cayman Islands and duly continued in Bermuda as an
exempted company under the laws of Bermuda (the “Change
of Domicile”). The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is
located at 20/F Infinitus Plaza, 199 Des Voeux Road Central,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) since 25 April 2014 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Winding-up petition and appointment of the
joint and several provisional liquidators for
restructuring purpose

On 20 September 2019, the Company received a petition (the
“Petition”) from Su Dajie (the “Petitioner”), a holder of the 2%
bond and 2.5% bond in the principal amount of approximately
HK$3,000,000 and HK$3,006,000 issued by the Company on
12 April 2018 and 13 April 2018 (collectively, the “Bonds”)
respectively, in the matter of the Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32, Laws of
Hong Kong) filed in the High Court of The Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “High Court”) under Companies
Winding-up Proceedings No. 283 of 2019, alleged that the
outstanding indebtedness owed by the Company to him up to
11 March 2019 was approximately HK$2,890,000. The winding
up petition was heard before the High Court on 20 November
2019. In connection with the Petition, the Company has
engaged professional parties to work out a restructuring plan
for the Company’s indebtedness. Such restructuring plan had
been filed to the Supreme-Court of Bermuda (the “Bermuda
Court”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Winding-up petition and appointment of the
joint and several provisional liquidators for

restructuring purpose (continued)

To facilitate the Company's financial restructuring, on
10 October 2019, a winding up petition together with an
application for the appointment (the “JPL Application”) of
Tang Chung Wah and Kan Lap Kee of Shinewing Specialist
Advisory Services Limited and Edward Alexander Niles Whittaker
of R&H Services Limited respectively was appointed as joint
and several provisional liquidators of the Company (together
“JPLs") on a light touch approach for restructuring purpose was
presented and filed with the Bermuda Court by the Company's
Bermuda Counsel, Conyers Dill & Pearman at the request of the
Company.

Under the JPL Application, the Company sought an order
from the Bermuda Court so that the board of directors of the
Company should under the monitoring of the JPLs, continue to
manage the Company’s affairs in all respects and exercise the
powers conferred upon it by the Company’s Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws, provided always that, the JPLs should
have the power to seek such directions from the Bermuda
Court as the JPLs are advised are appropriate to maximize the
prospects of the financial restructuring being successful and to
provide a moratorium to avoid a disorderly insolvency liquidation
of the Company and its subsidiaries by any of the creditors who
have threatened to commence liquidation proceedings.

On 5 March 2020, upon the joint application of the Petitioner
and the Company by way of the consent summons, an order
was made by the High Court that the Petition be dismissed.

On 11 November 2020, as part of the Company's debt
restructuring scheme, the Company, together with JPLs, has
formulated a restructuring transaction involving the issue
of shares. On 18 May 2022, pursuant to the order dated
20 April 2022 made by the High Court, the High Court has
directed that a meeting of creditors be convened for the
purpose of considering and, if thought fit, approving (with or
without modification) a creditors scheme of arrangement (the
“Scheme") proposed to be made between the Company and
the creditors of the Company in respect of claims against the
Company which arose on or before the effective date of the
Scheme.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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B2 T - -—H=1—HIFFE
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

76

Winding-up petition and appointment of the
joint and several provisional liquidators for

restructuring purpose (continued)

Pursuant to the resolution to approve the Scheme was duly
passed on 8 June 2022 and the Scheme has been sanctioned
by the Hong Kong Court on 28 June 2022, the Scheme has
become effective on 5 September 2022. The completion
of issue of Scheme Shares under specific mandate (the
"Completion”) took place on 4 January 2023. An aggregate of
3,262,705,241 Scheme Shares were allotted and issued to the
Scheme Creditors at the issue price of HK$0.317 per Scheme
Share for settlement of the all Admitted Claims of the Scheme
Creditors totalling approximately HK$1,034.3 million.

Upon Completion, all the Admitted Claims owing by the
Company to the Scheme Creditors, including all amount owing
by the Company under the Bonds (including the Notes), were
discharged and released in full.

On 25 January 2024, the Hong Kong Court had made an
order in modifying the Scheme (i) the identity of the scheme
administrators be changed from Mr. Tang Chung Wah
(Alan) and Mr. Kan Lap Kee (Terry) of SHINEWING Specialist
Advisory Services Limited to Mr. Lai Wing Lun and Mr. Osman
Mohammed Arab of Acclime Advisory Services Limited (the
“New Scheme Administrators”); and (ii) the New Scheme
Administrators will continue to complete all the outstanding
procedures of the Scheme of arrangements as mentioned in the
Scheme documents.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcements and circulars dated 11 November 2020, 11
April 2022, 18 May 2022, 9 June 2022, 28 June 2022, 21 July
2022, 5 September 2022, 4 January 2023 and 25 January 2024
respectively.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") issued by International Accounting Standards Board
(the "IASB"). IFRSs comprise International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”); International Accounting Standards (“IAS™);
and Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Material accounting policies adopted by
the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 4 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
amendments to IFRS to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately RMB816,320,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had net
current liabilities and capital deficiency of approximately
RMB339,788,000 and RMB146,126,000 respectively as at 31
December 2023. In addition, as disclosed in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements, as at 31 December 2023, the
Group's bank borrowings of approximately RMB200,371,000
are subject to renewal or to be fully repaid within the next
twelve months, of which approximately RMB162,864,000
were overdue. Furthermore, The Group recorded net operating
cash outflow of approximately RMB120,283,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023 with the Group's total bank and
cash balance remaining at a low level of RMB17,377,000 as
of 31 December 2023. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore,
the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

Having carefully considered the liquidity and working capital
requirements for the next twelve months, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on going concern basis.
Certain plans and measures have been or will be taken by
director of the Company to mitigate the Group's liquidity
pressure and to improve its cashflows which include, but are
not limited to, the following:

(@  The Group will negotiate with certain financial institutions,
including the existing major lenders, for options of
restructuring of the Group’s existing borrowings or
obtaining new financing;

(b)  The Group will continue its ongoing efforts to convince
the lenders of the defaulted borrowing not to take any
actions against the Group for immediate payment of the
principals and interest of these borrowings;

(©)  Obtain external source of funding from potential investors
by issuance of new shares; and

(d)  The directors of the Company have been taking various
cost control measures to tighten the costs of operations
and capital expenditure and implementing various
strategies to enhance the Group’s revenue.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that,
considering the abovementioned plans and measures, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within twelve months from 31 December 2023.
Accordingly, they are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainties exist as
to whether the Group will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern would depend upon the
following:

(@)  successfully secure new financing from the financial
institutions to fund its operations and financial obligations
as and when they fall due as well as restructuring of the
existing borrowings by extending the payment schedule;

(b)  successful negotiations with the lenders of the defaulted
borrowing that they will not take any actions against
the Group to exercise their rights to demand immediate
payment of the principals and interests of these
borrowings;

(c)  successful obtain external source of funding from
potential investors by issuance of new shares; and

(d) the Group’s ability to generate operating cash flows
to meet the Group's ongoing funding needs as well
as successfully control operations costs and capital
expenditure, and implementing various strategies to
enhance the Group's revenue.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements, to write down the value of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRSs

80

=g A=A

HE—F

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the preparation

of the consolidated financial statements:

IFRS 17

I B B 7 i 2R R B 755
Amendments to IAS 8

PR = TR 85k (185T])
Amendments to IAS 12

Rt ERIZE12% (185])
Amendments to IAS 12

BB g et R F125% (1BF])
Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2
e 5T 22 B 28157 M B R B
BWERNEBERAE2R (1B5])

The above amendments to IFRSs effective for the current
year beginning on 1 January 2023 do not have a material
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statement.
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Insurance Contracts

Riza K

Definition of Accounting Estimates

SAHAFTER

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

HESRHELNEERBERHENRIEREA

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules — Amendments
to IAS 12
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Disclosure of Accounting Policies
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bf # 3R 3% fff &%

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED IFRSs

(Continued)

(b) Revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied revised IFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2023. These revised IFRSs include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current

Amendments to IAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

Amendments to IFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 — Supplier
Finance Arrangements

Amendments to IAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 — Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So
far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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82

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group'’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 6.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The
Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties. A potential voting right is considered only if
the holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date the control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’'s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible,
including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential
voting right contributes to significant influence, the
holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or
convert that right is not considered.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

5.

84
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) Associates (continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of
the cost of the investment over the Group'’s share of the
net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included
in the carrying amount of the investment and is tested
for impairment together with the investment at the end
of each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. When the Group's share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate), the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Associates (continued)

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

(c)

Foreign currency translation

()

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at
the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction
date is the date on which the company initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in profit or loss, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5.

86

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(c) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company's presentation currency are
translated into the Company's presentation currency
as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign currency
translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = -—H=+—HIFZ

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 5 EAREHHREERH@®
INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment d) M¥ BERRE

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than properties
under construction as described below), are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The useful lives are as follows:

Buildings On the shorter of the term

of the lease, and 20-30 years
Machinery and equipment 10%
Office equipment and furniture 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and equipment pending
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses.
Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are available
for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

5.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i)

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s)
and non-lease component(s), the Group has elected
not to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for
all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets,
which for the Group are primarily office and factory.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on
a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = -—H=+—HIFZ

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 5 EAXREHHREERH@®
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e) Leases (continued)
(i) The Group as a lessee (continued)

(e) HE @
(i) FTEBEBEARBEA @

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as
a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing
was received,

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by the Group, which does not
have recent third-party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, such
as term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is
available to the individual lessee (through recent
financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group entities
use that rate as a starting point to determine the
incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bt # 3R 3% fff &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)
(e) Leases (continued)
(i) The Group as a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is
a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option. When
the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-

use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration
for a lease that is not originally provided for in
the lease contract (“lease modification”) that
is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this
case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The only exceptions are any rent
concessions which arose as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16.
In such cases, the Group took advantage of the
practical expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and recognised
the change in consideration as negative lease
payments in profit or loss in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the rent concessions

occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
(e) Leases (continued)

(f)

(ii) The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines as
lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the
case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight line bases over the term
of the relevant lease.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sales include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make
sale.

5.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5.

92
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
(g) Recognition and derecognition of financial

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when
the Group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
(h) Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are measured
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial
assets.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL").

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5.

94

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

()

(k)

)

(m)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under IFRSs. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade
and other receivables. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and
other receivables. The ECL on these financial assets
are estimated using the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 5 EXSHHERER@®
INFORMATION (Continued)
(m) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(m) ERMEERE @

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the
credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures
the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes
the future prospects of the industries in which the
Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant
think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as
consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the Group's
core operations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

(m) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = -—H=+—HIFZ

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 5 EXSHHERER@®
INFORMATION (Continued)
(m) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(m) ERMEERE @

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

(i)  The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i)  The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and

(i)  Adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of
“investment grade” in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating of “performing”.
Performing means that the counterparty has a strong
financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

I N FO RMATI O N (Continued)

98

(m) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables
that meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

- the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 5 EXSHHERER@®
INFORMATION (Continued)
(m) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(m) ERMEERE @

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As
for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date determined based on historical trend, the
Group's understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL
are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.
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5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
(m) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(n)

(o)

100

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
cash flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Sales of manufactured products

Revenue from the sale of manufactured products is
recognised at a point in time when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped
to the buyer’s specific location (delivery). Following
delivery, the buyer has full discretion over the manner of
distribution and price to sell the goods, has the primary
responsibility when on selling the goods and bears the
risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods
are delivered to the buyer as this represents the point
in time at which the right to consideration becomes
unconditional, as only the passage of time is required
before payment is due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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EXSEFTHEERN @
(o) Wi m

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 5.
INFORMATION (Continued)
(o) Revenue (continued)

Provision of digital marketing services

The Group offers diversified digital marketing services
including performance-based advertising services, display-
based advertising services and short video exposure services.
To fulfill contracts with certain customers, the Group enters
into cooperation agreements with third party platforms
and places the advertisements of the Group's customers
displayed on third party platforms. For above services
mentioned, the Group is the principal for fulfilling these
marketing service contracts as it has obtained controls over
third party platform services through cooperation contracts.
The Group is also primarily responsible for fulfilling these
marketing services as it is the only party that the Group’s
customers entered agreements with. As such, the Group
recognises revenues from contracts with customers on a
gross basis and records charges from third party platforms
as cost of revenues.

(i)  Performance-based advertising services

The Group provides performance-based advertising
services which allow advertising customers to
place links on the third parties’ internet platforms.
Performance-based advertising services are primarily
presented and delivered in the way of short video
with clickable thumbnails together with other
recommended short videos or displayed between
other short videos at varying frequency. Revenue
from performance-based advertising services is
recognised when relevant specific performance
measures are fulfilled.

(i) Display-based advertising services

Displayed advertisements appear in the form of
opening-page splash advertisements, traditional
banner ads and logos, etc. on various interfaces
of the platform. The revenue is recognised ratably
over the period that the advertising is displayed.
Generally, the terms of these display-based
advertisements are short term.

(iii) Short video exposure services
The Group also provides short video exposure
services where the customers pay for exposure of
their short video to a targeted number of viewers
for a specified period of time on the third parties’
internet platforms. The Group has determined
that each exposure to a target viewer represents
one performance obligation. Revenue from each
performance obligation is recognised when the
short video or live show is exposed.
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5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
(p) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period. Employee entitlements
to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits, and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.

(q) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

(r) Government grants

102

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.

MOODY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
2023 Annual Report

5.

EXSEFHEERN @

(p)

(q)

(r)

BERA

(i) EEEZRAY
BRENEREERHRBEERAR
BREEZERBTURR -BE
BEMKR RAEEAEHROR
BMEENFREERRSER
HOmstaEetRBEE -
EZANRBRERREEK
BRE TSR -

B EMF

AEERSAERERMNE
B FURKET S ETHR A
SE LK EE Y ENETRE
BEEAFHFEHNEDLIE
£ 18 28 R F0 BR #O IR P48 A 5t 8
RAEREEARNES N

=
Ko

(ii)

(iii) B2 45 7/
BB AR B 0 AR SR B N RE BUR 52
HZERAE R AR EER
AP X 3 Ko S A B B AR ) B
(AP ERE) TAER -

EE/E

BERN AR EELEHETERTE
=l

BB E

ERHAEEEASESETHB S
B B 7 16 1 30 5 U B BORT B0 B &
B RIFHB) © & T IARERR -

HIWARBEOBE/MEKETT
REBDRAREEFRERHEZKAE
UT Fic 1) B T B AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)

(s)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to
the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
recorded as deferred income and recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax
credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
difference.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
(s) Taxation (continued)

104

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(s)

()

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment
and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as
an expense through the consolidated statement of
profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to
which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal of the individual asset or the cash-generating
unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being
measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated
first against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata
amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused
by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to
the extent that they reverse the impairment.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(v)

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected
in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
of the Company have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a)

106

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the successful outcome of the proposed
plans and measures to improve the Group's liquidity
and financial position, as set forth in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)
Critical judgements in applying accounting
pOIiCieS (Continued)

(b)

(@

(d)

Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month
ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage
3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9
does not define what constitutes a significant increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information.

Revenue recognition

Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal
or as an agent when a third-party is in the provision of
certain services to its customers requires judgement and
consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances. In
evaluation of the Group’s role as a principal or agent,
the Group considers factors to determine whether the
Group controls the specified goods or services before they
transferred to the customer include, but are not limited to
the following: (a) who is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the contract, (b) who is subject to inventory risk, and (c)
who has discretion in establishing prices.

Property, plant and equipment used for
generating for rental income

The Group has developed certain criteria in making
judgements whether certain properties used for
generating rental income are qualified and recognised
in property, plant and equipment. Certain properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rental income, and
another portion that is held for use in the operation of
the Group'’s business. If portions could be sold separately
or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group
accounts for the portions separately. Also the properties
are classified as property plant and equipment if only
insignificant portion used for generating rental income.
Judgement is made in an individual property basis to
determine whether the above criteria are so significant
that property does not qualify as investment properties.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

v

== A=+—AIFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

E STI MATE S (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

108

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts. Changing the assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the recoverable amounts.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2023 were
approximately RMB178,589,000 and RMB31,677,000
(2022: RMB168,459,000 and RMB16,693,000) respectively.

Impairment losses for trade and other
receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables and other
receivables based on the credit risk of trade receivables
and other receivables. The amount of the impairment
loss based on ECL model is measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the total carrying amount
of trade and other receivables is approximately
RMB32,618,000 (net of allowance for ECL of
approximately RMB10,054,000) (2022: RMB22,348,000
(net of allowance for ECL of approximately
RMB1,798,000)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
EST'MATES (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

()

(d)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

During the year, RMB31,000 (2022: RMB662,000) of
income tax was credited (2022: charged) to profit or loss
based on the estimated profit.

Impairment losses of prepayments

The Group assesses prepayments whether there are
indicators of impairment for prepayments at the end
of each reporting period. Prepayments are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment exists when
the carrying amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use.
The calculation of fair value less costs to sell is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management estimates the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and chooses a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

The carrying amount of prepayments as at 31
December 2023 were approximately RMB1,179,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of approximately
RMB86,574,000) (2022: RMB12,868,000 (net of
allowance for doubtful debts of approximately
RMB84,855,000)).

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

B2 T - -—H=1—HIFFE
7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

110

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk
The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk
as some of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in the currencies other than functional
currencies of the Group entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the exchange rate of HK$, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's loss after tax due to changes in
the value of monetary assets and liabilities.
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Year ended 31 December 2022 Bz—%——
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5%/(5%) 45,657/(45,657)

Note: This is mainly a result of foreign exchange gain/(loss) on
unsecured bonds denominated in HK$.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is
exposed to credit risk from its operating activities of
trade and other receivables and bank balances. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from bank balances
is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions with high credit-rating assigned by
international credit-rating agencies, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group has no concentration of credit risk.

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit
subject to the Group's established policy, procedures and
control relating to customer credit risk management.
Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 90
days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances that
are more than 30 days past due are requested to settle all
outstanding balances before any further credit is granted.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. As the Group's
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is
not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables:

Bt 7% L B i B (a0

(b) EERE @
TRIEHEBAEBIIEENE 5
FBUWRBEZEZERBLESREEES
BE KR

2023
—EB-=F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance
RAHEES IREAE EiERE
RMB'000 RMB'000

% ARB TR ARB TR

Current (not past due)

Less than 3 months past due

Over 3 months but less than
6 months past due

Over 6 months but less than
9 months past due

BIHE (R Hf) 0.06% 17,811 10
B R3ME A 2.95% 677 20
EHEIEA3E AR L RefE A

B R B6fE A 1B KA A
100% 505 505

18,993 535

Current (not past due)

Less than 3 months past due

Over 3 months but less than
6 months past due

Over 6 months but less than
9 months past due

2022
e

— e

Gross
Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance
TEHEIEE REGE IR
RMB'000 RMB'000

% ARETT ARETE

BIHE (R Hg) 0.04% 15,388 6
BH D RA3ME A 2.4% 170 4

AR E3(E A E D 16fE A

BHEB6ME A B RIEA
58.5% 822 481

16,380 491

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience.
The above expected loss rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the trade receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bf # 3R 3% fff &%

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 7. MBEARERE@®
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) %Emﬁﬁ (8)
Movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables FTRNEZRERBFAEBERZREEZS N
during the year is as follows: K

2023 2022
=== e —

—_ — =

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTIT

At 1 January ®n—H—H 491 147
Impairment losses recognised FRERRREEE
for the year 44 1,093
Write off i - (749)
At 31 December WR+ZA=+—H 535 491
For other receivables, the Group recognises lifetime ECL MEMERFIEMS  ~AEEBEEFE
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk [E5 18 B ) 1R FE SR e K 0B 1 00 B T R
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on FHTEAEEBE - Am  WEAmE
the other receivables has not increased significantly since WRIEH(E B R 8 ¥ 46 #E R
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance BARIER ANEEARE T —EA
for the other receivables at an amount equal to 12-month EHEEREASENSETEAM
ECL. JE SRR TE B JES 1R R A o
The following table provides information about the TRIEMHEBASEMESEZEE
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECL for other [2 B B #EZE 4G 0 2 Ho b fE W ERIE 2
receivables which has significant increase in the credit risk: EERBREREEBEEHNT
2023
—®-=
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FAHEEE IREAE EERE
RMB'000 RMB'000
Internal credit rating ARG % AR®BTR AR%¥TxR
Stage 1 F—IEE 0.12% 7,903 9
Stage 2 FIEER 3.01% 6,454 195
Stage 3 F=IEE 30% 10 3
Default EQ 100% 9,312 9,312
23,679 9,519

RN BEROGERALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Hr—ZF—

== A=+—AIFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

114

B 7 [ B B B ()
(b) EERK w

2022
—E-—F

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
|loss rate amount allowance
EHEEE FRE&E EEEAE
RMB'000 RMB'000
Internal credit rating ABEETR % ARETT ARETRT
Stage 1 F—IEE 0.5% 4,126 20
Stage 2 FIEE 2.2% 2,399 52
Stage 3 F=PEE 14.3% 7 1
Default ) 100% 1,234 1,234
7,766 1,307

The above expected loss rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the other receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance for other receivables
during the year is as follows:

FATAEIE R R TR AE AR
SEL 2R AR A LENR - B AR
WU DA Je 7N S5 1B EL A FE UK TR Y TR
HMEHYEEERR I BENER -

FREMRUGTIREREGESMT -

2023 2022
—g== —E--

—_= =

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTIT

At 1 January n—H—H 1,307 32,213
Impairment losses recognised/ ERRMAEEER (REESE

(reversal of impairment losses) B[Q) 12,995 (44)
Write off 5 (4,783) (30,862)
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 9,519 1,307
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bf # 3R 3% fff &%

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(0

(d)

Interest rate risk
The Group's bonds bear interests at fixed interest rates
and therefore are subject to fair value interest rate risks.

The Group's exposure to cash flow interest-rate risk arises
from its bank deposits and bank borrowings. The bank
deposits and bank borrowings bear interests at variable
rates that vary with the then prevailing market condition.

Except as stated above, the Group does not have other
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities at the
end of reporting period, its income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variable held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax.

For the year ended BE-Z=-=

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

7. B¥EREE @®

(0

== 2 B
AEE 2 EHREERIRN 8 WA
B I A TEA & AR -

A 4 B B R R TR 6 7 B SR L B R 5
HRTERRBITER ROIERE
RITERIRTHA R A B L
AT TR TS AT -

B b3 51+ 75 58 B 70 95 4 AR 3 4
HEABEERRE HMAR
EERSREABH FENHHE
B8

TERBRERHAMEERG T &
MRS N - A SR B A R B A 85 18 4 R
MR BERENPRE-

Increase/
(decrease) in
interest rate

F=42

(I E
decrease in
loss before tax
FRBL AT & 18
Om4) (), E
% RMB’000
AR® TR

31 December 2023 +ZA=+—RHILEFEE 1%/(1%) (1,830)/1,830
For the year ended HE—_Z_—
31 December 2022 +-A=+—HIFE 1%/(1%) (1,617)/1,617
Liquidity risk (d) FRENEREBE

The Group’'s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

AEBBKARTHEZEEE KL EH
RBELER UHEEREERFTER
TREAMEHEHEERHOR

MR ERAAERLQT
2023 FEWRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B2 —F _—Ff—F=+—HIIFZ
7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 7. BBEREE@®
(d) LIqUIdlty risk (continued) (d) ﬁ@]’l‘ilﬂ@ (#%)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TRITAEEHeMEBERNSHRSE
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the MABERMBARE T2 (BERE
Group’s financial liabilities, based on undiscounted cash AFMEFES (MRZEH ) IRE
flows (including interest payments computed using HHBAETREGFTENF B
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at RAREEAJREFEFERTRNOKETE A
the reporting date) and the earliest date the Group can B ENFEBENFHR-
be required to pay.
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted REBIFTEZRBERS ORE
cash flows of the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities RIS RENIN BRI AT
is as follows:
On demand
or less than 1to2 2to5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
RERS
—FR —EWE MERLF BFENE #t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETRE ARETr AR%Tn AR%Tn AR%Tx
31 December 2023 “E-=f+ZRA=t+-H
Trade and other payables A RAMENE 236,833 - - - 236,833
Borrowings e 201,773 - - - 201,773
Lease liabilities HERE 2,914 2,392 - - 5,306
31 December 2022 “E-—F+-A=+-H
Trade and other payables B5 REMENTRIE 328,831 - - - 328,831
Borrowings EE 959,037 36,748 87,193 23,742 1,106,720
Lease liabilities HERE 232 177 - - 409
(e) Categories of financial instruments at e) R+t=—BA=+—BHBz&¢®mIA

116

31 December

bl

2023 2022
— == = —

—_ = =

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T NS

Financial assets: SREE:
Financial assets at amortised cost BHEHEK AT ENEREE
Financial liabilities: sREE:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost BHEEK AT ENSREE

51,240 34,729

439,351 1,404,954
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(f) Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
has four (2022: two) reportable segments as follows:

- Sales of shoes, clothes and others;

- Sales of fabrics;

- Sales of elastic webbings; and

- Provision of digital marketing services.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, as detailed in note
37, the Group completed the acquisition of 80.95% equity
interest in Leader Elastic Limited (“Leader Elastic”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. Leader Elastic
owns approximately 84.14% of the share capital of Zhuhai
Sundust Apparel Co. Ltd, a public company established in the
People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") whose shares are listed
on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations in the PRC
(stock code: 832674) (collectively, the “Leader Elastic Group”).
The principal activities of Leader Elastic and its subsidiaries
are sales of elastic webbing used for bras and underwear in
the PRC. Its revenue and results are separate into one new
reportable segment, being sales of elastic webbings.

The Group have also developed a new businesses of providing
digital marketing services during the year.

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products. The directors of Company, being
the chief operating decision maker, managed the operating
segments separately because each business requires different
resources, technology and marketing strategies.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = -—H=+—HIFZ

B R ERE@®

f) 2¥E
AUBBRNEAAAEMEBE
EReRaBNEEEALISAN
AFEIE -

TEHER
HE_Z2_=Fk_FT-_—_F+=A
—t+t—HLEFE AEEEFATHE(Z
T F WmE) 2R

- HE REREMBEE:
- EHEE:

- BUHEETHE X

- REEFEHERS-

B FA7ELR  BAE T =F+ =
A=+ —BLEE NEBHETHKKETF
EEMAYBRAR ([FEBEHED])
80.95% M HE#m  FEBHEHEM A —FRXR
HEEFMALHBR R A - FZBIEEEY
BEREANMRMHERNDER AT (—MH
REARLEME ([FE])RZHAR
N EBRORPE2ERNDERNDE
EEHBERS (BHEMREE:832674) )
(AR EBEEDER])BREALY
84.14% -~ FZEBEHE Y R EWE QR
FTEEK AR RHEERR X RARK
BT - BN S R EE K — B W
A2y BNGH & BT -

AEBTRAFERE -BHNEHBRM
BF L AR

AREBENRAI 2RO M ARESBERNE
REBEML AR SEBRETRNER
R R EERE WARRESE (R
RERRE)EBBLEELEN -

RN BEROGERALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuec) 8. ZHMERm

The material accounting policies information of the operating KEDHMERAGHRKEREREH
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. EETECR MR - 2 1B m T B IS A
Segment profit or loss do not include other income, net AEBHE (BB =38 HELRS
foreign exchange (losses)/gains, selling and distribution costs, SHAC AR s — M RATH A - B & AR R #&
general and administrative expenses, finance costs and loss ItERemBE EE - 2HEETBRE
on derecognition of financial liabilities. Segment assets do not HERARE R —HBEBEEQAFANKE R
include lease office, investment in an associate, bank and cash ThkBeEHRNEMAIEEE- &
balances and other unallocated assets. Segment liabilities do BETrREREARE Ex MHREAR.
not include lease liabilities, borrowings, current tax liabilities, EEBBEEERAEMKRSBEAE:

deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated liabilities.

Shoes, Digital
clothes Elastic  marketing
Fabrics and others  webbings services Unallocated Total

gE Rx BrEE

HE RHEft  BHES k%  KIE )
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®Tn ARMTR ARRTR ARETR

Segment results AHEE
Year ended 31 December 2023: BE-B-=E
TZR=t+-HL%E:

Reportable revenue from external REHNFEPH T 2HME

customers 13,600 83,620 31,762 11,314 - 140,296
Reportable segment (loss)/profit 2R (BE) /EF (11,564) 6,109 4721 786 - 52
Other income Al A 2,808
Net foreign exchange gains/losses Eila/ BETE 9,099
Selling and distribution costs HERDHERE (10,805)
General and administrative expenses —RRITBER (40,751)
Finance costs BERA (20,526)
Loss on derecognition of financial liabilities X1 A& HEEZER (756,228)
Loss before tax BEAIE S (816,351)
Other segment items HitAHER
Depreciation of property, nE BEREETE

plant and equipment 13,589 25 3,618 - 5 17,237
Depreciation on right-of-use assets EREEENE 406 - 353 - 2,269 3,028
Gain on the termination of RIEGREEEYS

right-of-use assets - - - - (8) 8)
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment & 5 EX 8 7 (FEBE

losses of trade receivables BE)/REEE 96 3) (51) 2 - 4
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment -t EWHE 2 (HEFE

losses of other receivables BE)/RESE 8,173 4,828 (6) - - 12,995
Impairment losses of prepayments ENTEZRERE 1,719 - - - - 1,719
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8.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bf # 3R 3% fff &%

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

8. AFERmW

Shoes, Digital
clothes Elastic ~ marketing
Fabrics  and others ~ webbings services  Unallocated
85 RE Hred
HH LEM R R AR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTR AREFT ARETT
Segment results PREE
Year ended 31 December 2022; BE-Z-CF
TZA=t-HLEE
Reportable revenue from external RENDEPE T ZHNE
customers 23,695 66,849 - - - 90,544
Reportable segment (loss)/profit A2EHH (BR) /&7 (198) 6,927 - - - 6,729
Other income EfbA 2,130
Net foreign exchange losses ERBEEE (58,183)
Selling and distribution costs HERDHERA (5922)
General and administrative expenses  —fR 1T % (32,005)
Finance costs BEARK (52,585)
Loss before tax BEianEE (139,836)
Other segment items Efhp i8R
Depreciation of property, n% BEREEAE
plant and equipment 21,785 6 - - - 21,791
Depreciation on right-of-use assets ~ EREAENE 406 - = = pLy) 648
Gain on the termination of RIIPRRAEYNS
right-of-use assets - - - - (326) (326)
Impairment losses of trade receivables & 5 W HE 2 HEE B 1,087 6 - - - 1,093
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ EipElEy (RESE
impairment losses of other receivables 1),/ E B (147) 103 - - - (44)
Reversal of impairment losses of BRFECAEERRMD
prepayments (382) - - - - (382)

MR ERAAERLQT
2023 FEWRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. AHFERmW

Shoes, Digital
clothes Elastic
webbings

marketing
services Total

HFEH

Fabrics and others
BE R#

[k} REM  EESF R % @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR%TR AR®TR AR¥Tr AR%ETrR

PHEAERAR
R=B=ZF+=A=t-R:

Segment assets and liabilities
At 31 December 2023:

Segment assets PHEE 180,428 8,962 87,906 4,847 282,143
Unallocated assets APREE 28,276
Total assets EEHAE 310,419
Segment liabilities AHEE 220,132 9,774 7,216 54 237,176
Unallocated liabilities AOEER 219,369
Total liabilities BEMAE 456,545

Segment assets and liabilities
At 31 December 2022:

T HEERARE

RZBE-ZE+-f=+-H:

Fabrics

BH
RMB'000
ARETT

Shoes,
clothes

and others
HE RE
REAM
RMB'000
ARET

Elastic
webbings

BUET
RMB'000
ARBTL

Digital

marketing

services
»

RMB'000
ARETL

Total

@t
RMB'000
ARBETT

Segment assets THEE 201,187 40,200 - - 241,387
Unallocated assets AOEEE 1,771
Total assets EEAE 243,158
Segment liabilities AHEE 305,859 35,446 - - 341,305
Unallocated liabilities Aok &R 1,077,188
Total liabilities SEHE 1,418,493
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bf # 3R 3% fff &%

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information
The Group's revenue from external customers by location of
operations are detailed below:

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Bz ZFES A= —HIEFE

o EE R @

ih & E R
AEERENLE SRS IRCE B
FIRNE

2023 2022

—_=E_= —EFT=-=
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T AREFIT
The PRC AR 138,050 59,076
Korea B2 - 31,468
Hong Kong B 1,184 -
Others =i} 1,062 -
140,296 90,544

Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets (excluding investment
in an associate) are located in the PRC. Accordingly, no further
geographical information of non-current assets to be disclosed.

Revenue from major customers
No customer contributed 10% or more of the Group's revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, one customer of the
Group’s business segment of shoes, clothes and others who
contributed revenue which exceed 10% of the Group's total
revenue (2022: RMB11,688,000).

REVENUE

Revenue represents the aggregation of net amounts received
and receivable during the year. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue for the year is as follows:

Contracts with customers recognised at
a point in time within the scope of
IFRS 15:

BB TS SR Y B
K-REHBERZEFPE

BRI %HAEEIERBEE (TEER
—HEBERRIRIEE )RR B B
EIERBEEMNEMuIZER A THE-

REXERFHWE
BE_T-_=-F+-_RA=+—"RHLEHFE"
BMEZFEMASERDEA10%IMA L -

HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLFE"

NEBERE - HE”*&E@%%’MBE’J £
EPERMZKBSEEARAEBRBZUWZE10%MU
E(ZZ =% : AK¥11,688,0007T) °

Wy =
W FRNE R R EBUGRIRFRE 2 B85 -
AREENFEREEDFTWT :

2023 2022
— 2= —_EFE-=

RMB'000
ARET T

RMB’000
AR®T T

1557 B i5 A

#):

Sales of fabrics ERHE 13,600 23,695
Sales of shoes, clothes and others HE RERHMEE 83,620 66,849
Sales of elastic webbings S o S 31,762 -
Provision of digital marketing services REHEFLHERE 11,314 -

140,296 90,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

10. OTHER INCOME 10. Eft A

2023 2022

—E-=

— = — —

— e

RMB’000
AREET T

RMB’000
AR®T T

Amortisation of deferred income of B & 75 28 Y B fl B IR RE

government grants relating to WA (M13E@))
assets (note (a)) 312 312
Gain on the termination of BmILEAREEENE
right-of-use assets 8 326
Interest income F B U A 231 8
Rental income Ea A 1,357 1,460
Consultancy fee income BRABWA 772 -
Others H A 128 24
2,808 2,130
Note: MIE -
(@) Local government grants were granted to a subsidiary of the (@ AEE-—HMWBAREEHRTERTZE

WAH-BTFEHELMRERAEEEY
M REERRBRBELEKRA (FEF2H
B 5E27) 5% S5 IR e B 3 488 B 75 18 R FE 7T

Group. Subsidies of the leasehold land and right-of-use assets
in prior year was recognised as deferred income as detail in
note 27. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies

attached to these government grants. 1R A EIH -
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. MERAX

2023 2022

—=B== g
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AR¥ETTT
Interest expenses on bank borrowings HRITE TSR X 20,300 15,551
Interest expenses on bonds BEHFFERXE - 36,988
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBEMR SR 226 46
20,526 52,585

MOODY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bf # 3R 3% fff &%

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 12. FiBH (E&) FX
Income tax (credit)/expense has been recognised in profit or loss EREZERNREH (Ke) /B
as follows: N

2023 2022
—E_= B

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBET R ARBTIT

BIHEATE IR - F e

Current tax — provision for the year

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —FR B ERTEH
("PRC EIT") ([REREMER]) - 18
(Over)/under — provision in prior years BEFE (GRERE) BETR
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BENEN (138) 644
— PRC EIT —H B EMER 107 -

(31) 662

MRAEEY EENBAARRE T
—EE+ A=+ — B
Bes Al - B AR E RIS BLAE L (=
T ) -

= —

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax are required since the
Group's Hong Kong subsidiaries have no assessable profit for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

For the Group’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC REEZETE-_=F+-A=+—HI1tHF

are subject to PRC EIT at the rate of 25% (2022: 25%) for the B AEERPBEKLRELHHE QB

year ended 31 December 2023. JEIR25% (—F = —4F:25% )T =g
MBS EFTIEEL

Prsm (Ee) /AXkBEBAEENY

The reconciliation between the income tax (credit)/expense and

the loss before tax is as follows: R
2023 2022
—E2_= —_=E_—
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T ARET T
Loss before tax bR AT E 18 (816,351) (139,836)
Notional tax on loss before tax, BRERIBE s RERIE
calculated at the rates applicable LRBH B e AR
in the tax jurisdictions concerned BHAMETE (140,561) (26,088)
Tax effect of income not taxable PNEFHMAZ R E (83) (2,717)
Tax effect of expense not deductible ANEMBFEST 2R 2 128,795 21,960
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERPBEBEINBTE 7,254 6,701
Tax effect of temporary differences not REREREEZE I HETE
recognised 4,595 162
(Over)/under-provision in prior year BAFE (BREEE) BETR (31) 644
Income tax (credit)/expense Frig® (%) B (31) 662

RN BEROGERALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

FREE
AEBWERBRENR GGEA) T3
RS

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 13.
The Group’s loss for the year is arrived at after charging/
(crediting) the following:

2023 2022

—=E_= —E-F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETIT

Auditor's remuneration % SR 2 B 996 842

Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKA 95,290 72,433
Depreciation of property, W WE REETE

plant and equipment (note (a)) (Ffi5E@)) 17,237 21,791

ERREENE (MiE@)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

(note (a)) 3,028 648
Gain on termination of right-of-use assets 4% |F{# A& & W 25 (8) (326)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BER&EEE

equipment 8 -
Loss on derecognition of financial liabilities #% R & BB E 2 BE

(note (b)) GEIOY 756,228 -
Impairment losses of trade receivables 2 5 W IE 2 R EEE 44 1,093
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment — E {th & Y 7538 ~ @ (EET 12,

losses) of other receivables CREEER D) 12,995 (44)
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment T 7018 7 G {EE 18,

losses) of prepayments CREEERD) 1,719 (382)
Expenses relating to short-term lease EHRAEENRY

(included in cost of sales and general (FFABEER A K&

and administrative expenses) —RRITHHE) 201 10
Staff costs (including directors’ BINRAK (BEEES)

emoluments) (note (a)) (MI5E@))

— Salaries, bonuses and allowances — ¥ & 4LF KRG 26,252 9,482
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions — i K48 |51+ 2 4 5% 5,534 1,173
31,786 10,655

Notes: B 5E
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation
of right-of-use assets and staff costs of approximately
RMB3,436,000, RMB63,000 and RMB13,547,000 (2022:
RMB3,818,000, RMB21,000 and RMB3,861,000) were included
in the cost of sales.

As disclosed the note 29 (e) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company issued the shares for the settlement
of debts. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liabilities extinguished and the fair value of issued shares
at the date of derecognition has been recognised as loss on
derecognition of financial liabilities in the profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 Bt #5 R 3% Fff 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 14. EEENRER

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=M<
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section RIEBFB QTGN EISIN)IEHEE
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as WEEZEMEBT:
follows:

2023 2022
—g== —F--

[l S

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTIT

Fees we 232 218
Other emoluments EH A&

Salaries and allowances e MoEEh 875 516

Retirement benefit scheme contributions IRREFEH B4 5R 34 26

9209 542

1,141 760

RN BEROGERALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 14. EEFEf K fEm @

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

(a) EEME w

31 December 2023

“E_=f+ZA=1+-H

Retirement
benefit
scheme

contributions
EHREF

bE L
RMB'000
AR®T

Salaries and

Fees allowances

[k
RMB'000
ME ARMTR

FERERR
RMB'000
AR®TR

Notes

Total

st
RMB000
AR®TR

Executive directors HTES
Mr. Li Wanyuan ZELRE - 362 16 378
Ms. Lin Yuxi MBELL - 217 1 228
Mr. Liu Junting (Redesigned on BB L4 (R -=F

2 August 2023) NAZBHEAE) - 296 7 303
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES

directors
Mr. Chow Yun Cheung BAERLE 14 - - 141
Mr. Lin Yugang MFRI%E 46 - - 46
Mr. Li Gang (Appointed on BRI%E(R-S_=F

2 August 2023) NAZBEZE) 45 - - 45

232 875 34 1141

31 December 2022 “B--f+ZA=t-H
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Li Wanyuan FELEE - 310 16 326
Ms. Lin Yuxi MBEZLT - 206 10 216
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE

directors
Mr. Chow Yun Cheung AEELE 134 - - 134
Mr. Lin Yugang MFRI% & 43 - - 43
Mr. Liu Junting Elf3sis 41 - - 41

218 516 26 760

MOODY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any emolument during the year (2022:
Nil).

During the year, no emolument has been paid to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group; or as compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil).

There was no discretionary bonus paid or payable to any
of the directors during the year (2022: Nil).

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

Save for disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transaction, arrangement and
contract in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company and the director’s connected party had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = -—H=+—HIFZ

14. EET/A R ER @

(a)

(b)

mMEBEROSBRLQ A

BEEME w
RERN MEEEHREXFRENEL
AMe s T (ZE_—F &) -

RER MEZNEAME FTESE
LS DN S 9 NN S TESs
MBI SIERRER W E
Fi|E) -

=

RER  BEAEAESE N REN
EREBEL (T ZF &) -

FRHATEENME AEAERR
RARAEEEHAE B RSN
MBS EABYERITESNME
REZEARARBAEEFZANME -

EERRG RHELEHNFE
EPN £

& OF B B IR R M R34 R A SN
RF R RAE E (TR - B0 K
RAER—AMEAERELE W
MEAR S ZHRAHF ARFE
BERBEECBEATHEERNE
A E AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 15.

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included Nil (2022: two) directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements. The emoluments of the
remaining five (2022: three) individuals are set out below:

TEGREHMAL

RERN AEBREERSHFMALLES
B(ZEZZF - MB)EF EFMRT
& OB R MR M 14 B9 D AT o H R
FE(ZEZZF:ZZ)ALHOFHFHM®m
T

2023 2022

—_— — — — = — —
=E== —Zz-_=

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTIT

Salaries and allowances e MERL 2,663 1,527
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iR K48 Rzt 24 2 83 35
2,746 1,562

The number of non-directors, highest paid employees, whose
emoluments fell within the following bands, is as follows:

HFHN T TV SEBENEEERSHFHA
TEEWMT:

Nil to RMB1,000,000 Tz AR#1,000,0007T

During the year, no emolument has been paid to these
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group;
or as compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil).

There was no discretionary bonus paid or payable to any of the
highest paid employees during the year (2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bf # 3R 3% fff &%

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BIREE
(a) Basic loss per share (a) BREAERE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is ERERARBEEEEDIREATE
based on the following: BEtE

2023 2022
—g== —F--

[l S

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTIT

Loss for the year attributable to owners =+ &R E AR & #E E BT A
of the Company used in the basicand 2 AR EHEHF AT R
diluted loss per share calculation 518 (811,388) (140,498)

Number of shares

R4 B E

2023

—=—=

—_—

Weighted average number of ordinary st E&REREIETAZ
shares in issue during the year used FRNEETREEL AR

in basic and diluted loss per share hnige 58
calculation 3,424,865,075 65,139,040
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) BREEEIE
Diluted loss per share is same as the basis loss per share HRARRREBE_T_=ZFK_
as the Company did not have any dilutive potential T+ -_A=+—BIEMEAF
ordinary share during the two years ended 31 December EMELMEEESEBR UK
2023 and 2022. BEBRRESREANEEMRAR-

RN BEROGERALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—F—=

=#+=A=

1T —HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. ¥ -BERRHE

Machinery (0]{1¢)
and equipment Motor Construction
Buildings  equipment and furniture vehicles  in progress Total
BAERE
BEY HHERRE k&R L] HEIR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR¥TRT ARBT:T ETr  ARBTT AR®TR
Cost A
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-—%—HF—H 241,925 116,380 772 159 1,518 360,754
Additions RE - 182 39 - 442 663
At 31 December 2022 and RZEZZF+=-A=+—H
1 January 2023 k=F=-=%—-HA—H 241,925 116,562 811 159 1,960 361,417
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WUEHIB AR 17,441 8,190 457 73 - 26,161
Additions wE - 481 783 9 - 1,273
Disposal HE - (79) - - - (79)
Exchange difference EREH - - 2 15 - 17
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+=ZA=+-H 259,366 125,154 2,053 256 1,960 388,789
Accumulated depreciation R ITERFE
and impairment
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—F—H—H 79,902 90,379 740 146 - 171,167
Charge for the year FAZH 10,955 10,822 14 - - 21,791
At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023 90,857 101,201 754 146 - 192,958
Charge for the year 12,504 4,502 212 19 - 17,237
Disposal - (11) - - - (1)
Exchange difference - - 1 15 - 16
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=f+=ZA=+-H 103,361 105,692 967 180 - 210,200
Carrying amount BEE
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=%5+-A=+-H 156,005 19,462 1,086 76 1,960 178,589
At 31 December 2022 RZZE__F+-A=1—H 151,068 15,361 57 13 1,960 168,459
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, buildings of the Group with
carrying amount of approximately RMB137,409,000 (2022:
RMB129,897,000) and machinery and equipment of the Group
with carrying amount of approximately RMB1,266,000 (2022:
RMB1,266,000) were pledged as collateral for certain bank
borrowings of the Group (note 25).

The Group has carried out a review of the recoverable amount
of its property, plant and equipment as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 with reference to the valuation performed by
an independent valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals Limited. The
recoverable amount is assessed based on fair value less cost
of disposal by using depreciated replacement cost approach
which involves observable and unobservable inputs, including
replacement cost, estimated useful life and residual value, under
level 3 fair value measurement. During the two years, there
were no change in the valuation techniques used.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no impairment
losses (2022: Nil) was recognised in the profit or loss in respect
of property, plant and equipment.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = -—H=+—HIFZ

17. ¥ -BERRKE @®

RZE-_=F+_A=+—H XAEEKE
mEYARE137,409,000C (=T = —
F: AR #129,897,0007T ) I B2 &4 A &
AEBBREEENARET,266,0007T (=
T —F: AR¥1,266,0007T) HYH 22 K&
RECEBEAEES THRTERNIE
185 (MF7E25) o

AEEBCD2EBUGEMSETIEER
NAEITHHE BHER TS Z=FK
—E-F+ZA=1+—HOYE HE
MEEHARESE J B SREEASE
=HRATFEAETHNEEERLSE OF
MOBRETEREG ARG BEEE
BRA A E R FE R FREE) AR
FEBEBERAETE -RWENRN - FTE
FA & {7 B 52 i A7 4 &) o

BT -_=F+-_A=+—HItFE"
MERDE BERIFERIBEZERRNE
BE(ZEZZF:8)-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. EHEEE

Leasehold
land and land Lease
use right office Total

HET#HR

TwfEARE  HERLE At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®Trn ARETR

At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—%—F—H 16,626 - 16,626
Additions NE - 715 715
Depreciation e (406) (242) (648)
At 31 December 2022 and RZE-—F+=-A=+—HK
1 January 2023 —“E-=%#—Af—H 16,220 473 16,693
Acquisition of subsidiaries B D 11,230 - 11,230
Additions wnE - 6,879 6,879
Termination of lease KRIEHE - (97) (97)
Depreciation e (759) (2,269) (3,028)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZZB-_=5+=-A=+—H 26,691 4,986 31,677
As at 31 December 2023, leasehold land of the Group with R-ZEBE_=F+-_A=+—H AEEK
carrying amount of approximately RMB26,691,000 (2022: HEL A ARE26,691,000T (ZE ==
RMB16,220,000) were pledged as collateral for certain bank £ AR 6,220 000 )M EE LB
borrowings of the Group (note 25). EREAEBE TRITEROERR (M
5£25) °
Lease liabilities of approximately RMB5,006,000 (2022: R-EBE-_=F+-_A=+—8" fﬁf‘fﬁ
RMB384,000) are recognised with right-of-use assets of BN ARES5,006,000c (&= =
approximately RMB31,677,000 (2022: RMB16,693,000) as at ANRE384,000) B AREENAR
31 December 2023. 31,677,000 (ZEZ—F: AR%

16,693,0007T, ) fE R

2023 2022
=== e —

—_ = =

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTIT

Depreciation expenses of right-of-use assets ~ {£ A& ETERF = 3,028 648
Expenses relating to short-term lease ERAEHEENRX

(included in cost of sales and (FTASHER A R

general and administrative expenses) —BRITHHAL) 201 10
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABEMNBMX 226 46
Gain on the termination of RIEFRAEEERS

right-of-use assets (8) (326)

1 3 2 MOODY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
2023 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The Group leases offices and factory for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of two to four years
(2022: two to four years). Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where
its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office
buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these property
interests, including the underlying leasehold land. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests.

The Group has carried out a review of the recoverable amount
of its leasehold land as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 with
reference to the valuation performed by an independent
valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals Limited. The recoverable amount
is assessed based on fair value less cost of disposal by using
direct comparison approach which involves observable and
unobservable inputs, including market price per square, under
level 3 fair value measurement. During the two years, there were
no change in the valuation techniques used.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no impairment of
leasehold land was made, as its recoverable amount was higher
than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = -—H=+—HIFZ

18. FAREEE W

AEBAHERGCEHAERLAETNEE -
HMEANEETHEMFENFR Y (=
Z__F REENF) HEMKKTIMN
BMARERETEE TEEIETRANK
TR AE A - A BB TE TR B AT (A N AT UK A
MHREER A£EEEAGONTES I
BEAHFHRITHER -

U 91 - 75 S B 7 7 R SR A AE 1Y
TERERBAAIE REBAZENE
BEmERAEA SEEBHEELH-
BUEZE YRR DEEIN R
3k -

AEBBL2EB U EHEMSETHEARA
REITHEE FHER - -_ZFr=-F
T+ A=+ HHNHEELHHATK
EleFE- Al EeEFERE =RAFETE
THEERLEE (SR ABRET#HEE
ABE BESFARTE) UQAFER
BERAET G- RNMERN - FEANGE
Rl A s & o

BHE-_EZ-_=F+-_A=+—BHLFE"
ARAELMAIREERRER-E
=+ A=t+—HzFEEE AtilE
HEETHFHRE(ZSE__F &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. R—REBE AN ER
Investment in an associate R—EBREQATNERE

2023 2022
=== e

—_—_=—= —=

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBTIT

Unlisted investments: FELETIRE
Share of net assets SIHEEFE - -
Goodwilll S 60,909 60,909
60,909 60,909
Impairment loss BIEE R (60,909) (60,909)
Details of the Group’s associate at 31 December 2023 and 2022 REBR_Z_=FR_FT__F+=
are as follows: A=+—B8EBERAFFBEET:
Place of Issued and Percentage Principal activities
incorporation paid up capital of ownership interest  and place of operation
AR AR AL it B ERTRARKRE BEEEZMEAIL FTEEBRRLCEHY
2023 2022
—g-= T-__F
Baixin (China) Co., Limited The PRC RMB100,000,000 50% 50% Manufacturing and sales of yarn
and cotton fabric, the PRC
BE(FE)EBR AT g AR%100,000,0007T BUERHEDBREE B
The associate suspended the production during the year ended BMEANRREBE_ZT—N\F+=ZA=1+—
31 December 2018. All assets were fully impaired. HIEFEEE -FBEEECERERE-
20. INVENTORIES 20. 8

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T

Raw materials R 5,946 2,797
Work-in-progress £ 8 0h 21,432 896
Finished goods SR o 19,220 6,716

46,598 10,409
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bf # 3R 3% fff &%

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

21. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 21. EtERBEE
The Group has recognised the following other current assets: AEBECDHERATHMREEE -

2023 2022
—EC=F B

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBET R ARBTIT

Other current assets Hithmsh &&= 1,136 -
The other current assets represented the data purchased from HMREBEEERE=FFAaEHEE
the third party platforms provider, are recognised as other ERNHE REHUBRAERTIERAEE
current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position tREBEEY D ERRSEE-

and classified as current assets.

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. EG R EMEWRFE

2023 2022
—g== —F-=

—_= =

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTIT

Trade receivables (note 22(a)) 2 5 WA (HiE22@)) 18,993 16,380
Less: Allowance for trade receivables B E BRI GRIB R B

(note 22(a)) (FfzE22(a)) (535) (491)

18,458 15,889

Prepayments T IR 87,753 97,723

Less: Allowance for prepayments B TR BIAR (86,574) (84,855)

1,179 12,868

Other receivables H th fE W Fh08 23,679 7,766

Less: Allowance for other receivables B, EL A R Uk 5K B A B {8 (9,519) (1,307)

14,160 6,459

Deposits Ze 1,245 11,083

35,042 46,299

RN BEROGERALA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Hr—ZF—

== A=+—AIFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(a) Trade receivables

136

The Group's trading terms customers are mainly on credit.
The credit terms generally 90 days (2022: 90 days). Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. For new customers,
payment in advance is normally required. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

22. E5 K Hth B WRKE

(a)

g S EWRIE
AREBBEFZESEREBLUE
BERRET-EEH MK A0B (=
TZ_F:90R) BREFPRAER
SEERBE-RFEFAPME  &RMBE
BERBEAMNR -AEERERE
BRAEERRKRE-EETHEMR
s g4 o

B RWHE (BINGRBEE) RER
B ZRREE DT

2023 2022

—EBE-=F g
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Within 1 month RENERA 9,994 15,196
Over 1 month but less than 3 months 11 A A {831 A 7,807 186
Over 3 months but less than 6 months 31 A A {8/ 6@ A 239 166
Over 6 months but less than 9 months 61 A A {891 A 418 -
Over 9 months but less than 12 months 9 A A {87 121E A - 341
18,458 15,889

As of 31 December 2023, trade receivables of
approximately RMB657,000 (2022: RMB507,000) were
past due but not impaired. These trade receivables related
to customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bf # 3R 3% fff &%

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a) Trade receivables (continued)
The Group does not charge interest or hold any collateral
over these balances.

The Group applied simplified approach to provide the ECL
as prescribed by IFRS 9. The impairment methodology is
set out in notes 5(n) and 7(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 are set out in note 7(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

23. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

22. ES R HMEWRKIE @®

(a) EZEWFIE@
AEEWERZEEHWEF B
BHEMEHRGS-

REBE R BT AR BRI % &
SHEAFR AT REHNEES
BREREHRAHYHHRRME
5(n) K 7(b) °

HEZ-_-"FR-_FT-__F+=
A=+ RALEE EZREMER
HRIEREFENOFBEHERNE 0B
MERMFET(D) »

23. RITRAESHEH

2023 2022
—=— = — e —

—_—=—— —_— ==

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETTT

RMB AR 3,949 531
usb ETT 962 475
HK$ BT 12,466 292

17,377 1,298

As at 31 December 2023, the bank and cash balance of the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately RMB3,943,000 (2022: RMB531,000).

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations. However, under the PRC's Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

R-ZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—8 A£BER
FREZHBARNUARESENRTR
ReEn B ARE3 943,000 (=&
——%F: AR¥531,0007T) °

AR ABINE AT (P BSMNEE H 5
By R(EE-EERNEEERTE) R
BoRm Rz (PEINEE IR &
(HE - SERNEEEBRE) FA&H
BEEBERBETIERH 2RITH
ARBRHIBBEMBER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. ES R EMERIE

2023 2022
ey e —

—_—=<—— — = ==

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTIT

Trade payables =) ANEE 32,445 91,468
Payables for purchases of property, BEWE WFE MR EEMSRIE
plant and equipment - 35,608
Salary payables JE 1< 5 B 29,822 25,792
Interest payables FEASFIE 120,033 101,883
Other payables and accruals Hitn eI IBEREFEA 54,533 74,080
236,833 328,831
Trade payables B ENRIE
An ageing analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting RBEARBEEZARNE ZET XK
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HERE DT T :

2023 2022
—=— = = —

—_—=<—— —_— = ==

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBTIT

Within 3 months 3B AR 4,541 8,403

Over 3 months but less than 3@ A LA BB ADR121E A
12 months 3,289 1,199
Over 12 months 128 A LA E 24,615 81,866
32,445 91,468
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25. BORROWINGS

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Bz ZFES A= —HIEFE

25. &=

2023 2022
—E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETx ARETIT
Current; TE

Secured bank borrowings (note (a)) B ER1TE T (B 147,662 110,265
Unsecured bank borrowings (note (a)) AR T ER 775 3 (BF 52,709 52,709
Unsecured bonds (note (b)) A IRE S (M FE(Db) - 792,056
200,371 955,030

Non-current; ERE
Unsecured bonds (note (b)) EIMIFES (WD) - 121,093
200,371 1,076,123

Notes:

Bank borrowings

As at 31 December 2023, bank borrowings amounted to
approximately RMB162,864,000 (2022: RMB102,974,000) were
overdue. As a result, the Group is subject to a penalty interest
expense during the overdue period.

The Group's bank borrowings of approximately RMB129,626,000
(2022: RMB110,265,000) were secured by its property, plant
and equipment (note 17) and right-of-use assets (note 18), and
approximately RMB 18,036,000 were secured by the properties with
corporate guarantee provided by the former shareholders of Leader
Elastic and personal guarantee provided by the former directors of
Leader Elastic, Mr. Ma Chun Hing and Mr. Lim Fung Yiu, who are
also the non-controlling shareholders of Leader Elastic.

The effective interest rates and default interest rates on bank
borrowings were ranging from 3.07% to 8.00% and 5.00% to
11.99% (2022: 5.67% to 8.00% and 5.64% to 11.99%) per
annum respectively for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

GES

RITHER

R-B-_=F+-_A=+—8 KA&£EH
AR ¥162,864,000 (ZE = —F: AR
#102,974,00070) M iRITiE RE @ B - A
It AEBEESMNBHEEAS ST -

AEBEFITHERHOARE129,626,0007T
(ZZ = —%F: AR¥110,265,0007T) &
ME - BMEEEE (M) REAEEE
(FIFE18) 1EH 8 - i 49 A R #£18,036, ooo
JT Bl R ) 2B M AR W 0 AT IR SRR A )

1%&%\@%%\i%ﬁ#@ﬁﬁ%%%aﬁﬂﬂiﬁi&m
LREE (BENAFEELGYRIEE
B A% 3R ) FR AL B A B (R A ZEAEIR R

@i:?:_¢+—ﬂ*+ HItFEE
BITERHNERFENEREZOFES R
ﬁ$3.o7%i8.oo%&5.00%i1 1.99%
(ZZE - - %:567%%8.00%/5.64%%
11.99%) °

AEBERZREERATEEHE:

HK$ BT 18,037 -
RMB AR 182,334 162,974
200,371 162,974

mMEBEROSBRLQ A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

2 5 . BORROWI N G S (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

25. B @®
MsE: ()

(a)

140

Bank borrowings (Continued)

The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the bank
borrowings is analysed as follows:

—F LA

Within one year

(a)

RITIEK (48)

RITEFRAENZ BRSO :

2023
—EB-=HF

2022
¢

— =

RMB’000
ARBFT

RMB’000
AR®TR

200,371 162,974

Unsecured bonds

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had Hong Kong dollars
denominated bonds with an aggregate principal of approximately
RMB691,238,000. As at 31 December 2022, the bonds were
unsecured, borne interest rates at a range of 1.5% — 40% per
annum, and repayable on demand or during the period from
January 2023 to December 2029. The maturity profile of the
carrying amount of the bonds is analysed as follows:

EEMES

RZZBE-_—F+_A=+—8 ARA%#
EUBTHENES A2BBHAR
#691,238,000L - R =T -_—_F+=A
=t—A0 ZEEHFAEERAE. &iﬂf
N F1.5%E40%H BW AR ERK KN =

:Eifﬂi_::ﬂ¢+fﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ°
ZEEFNEAENIBBRITINT

2023

—E-= =
RMB’000 RI\/IB 000
AR%T T ARBTTT
Within one year —F LA - 792,056
In the second year —FR - 34,603
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EEAFT (REEEMTF) - 70,934
After five years hFiz - 15,556
- 913,149

As at 31 December 2022, unsecured bonds amounted to
RMB721,734,000 were overdue. As a result, the Group
was subject to a penalty interest.

Upon completion of issue of scheme shares on 4 January
2023, all the amount owing by the Company to the
bondholders was discharged and released in full.
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26. LEASE LIABILITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

26. HEGE

Present value of
Minimum lease payments  minimum lease payments

REAE BREEENRERE

2023 2022 2023 2022
—E_= —F_ —EB_-= T

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TT AR®TR ARETR

Within one year —F LA 2,914 232 2,711 213
More than one year, but not —FLRENBRMF
exceeding two years 2,392 177 2,295 171
5,306 409 5,006 384
Less: Future finance charges B ARRBEKE (300) (250 N/ATER  NATER
Present value of lease obligations HEETIRE 5,006 384 5,006 384
Less: Amount due for settlement & : JER 1218 A A 4 E 08
within 12 months (shown (RREEBETIIR)
under current liabilities) (2,711) (213)
Amount due for settlement e 2{E A& B E 3R
after 12 months 2,295 171
The ranging incremental borrowing rates applied to lease HARHEABZEEERNMNEEH

liabilities were 5.0% — 6.0% (2022: 5.0% - 6.0%).

All lease liabilities are denominated in RMB.

27. DEFERRED INCOME

B50%E6.0% (ZE - _F:50%%
6.0%) °

FAEREaEYUAREE-.
27. IEEZEW A

2023 2022
=== = —

—_—=—— —_— = ==

RMB’000 RMB'000

Government grants relating to leasehold
land and land use right

AR®T ARBETIT

HES R T ERAERED

BT 7 B &

12,162 12,474

RN BEROGERALA
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

27. DEFERRED INCOME (continued) 27. IBIEW A ®
The movements of deferred income during the year are as REWARFERNNZEBHHIINAT
follows:

2023 2022
—E-=F =T

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTIT

At 1 January n—A—H 12,474 12,786
Amortised as income B AW A (312) (312)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 12,162 12,474
Subsidy of the cost of construction the amount is transferred to BENANEHSEREEEENA
other income over the useful lives of relevant assets. AEBREZEEMUA -
28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 28. EEMIBBEE
The analysis of deferred tax liabilities as follows: BEEREEEOSTAT

2023 2022
=== e

—_—=—= —=

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTIT

Deferred tax liabilities EEMIE A E 2,147 =
At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused PR B - AN E 0] AER 2R K EF
tax losses of approximately RMB417,968,000 (2022: B AR E) AR IEE R A A K¥%417,968,0007T
RMB385,966,000) available for offset against future (ZZF - —F: AR¥385,966,0007T) °
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due FR A A TR ORI R 2R MR - iR i RRIE RE
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included MBEE RAERVEBERLESRESF
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately MR HR A E5 18 49 A R 390,488,000t (=
RMB390,488,000 (2022: RMB363,499,000) that will expire in T - 44 AR¥363,499,0007T) - E b
five years. Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. HIBBEr ERBLE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. RA&
Number of
ordinary shares
ERAREE
‘000 HK$’000
T TET
Authorised: EE:
At 1 January 2022 at HK$0.01 per share WZE--_F—HA—H
BHR0.01E T 100,000,000 1,000,000
Effects of share consolidation (note (a)) REEH 2L (@) (90,000,000) -
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and R-BZZf+=ZA=+-8"
31 December 2023 at HK$0.1 per share “E-=%5-H-HEK
—E-_=5+Z-B=+-—H
RER1ER 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHME:
At 1 January 2022 at HK$0.01 per share RZEZZF—-A—RH&
F0.01787T 522,755 5,227
Share consolidation (note (a)) Btn& 0 (FiiE(a)) (470,480 -
Subscription of new shares under general RE-—REERETRD
mandate (note (b)) (B zE®D)) 10,455 1,045
Subscription of new shares under general R R ERBEF KD
mandate (note (c)) (Mi&E(Q)) 12,546 1,255
Placing of new shares under general RE—REKEREFT RN
mandate (note (d)) (M3E(d)) 15,056 1,506
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZBZZF+-A=+-HRK
at HK$0.1 per share “EC=5-A-HEER0.1ER 90,332 9,033
Issue of scheme shares under specific mandate R BIRERTEHER G
(note (e)) (FtzE(e)) 3,262,705 326,271
Placing of new shares under general RE-REEEENRD (HEG)
mandate (note (f)) 133,690 13,369
Placing of new shares under general RE-REEEEHRD (M)
mandate (note (g)) 64,230 6,423
Placing of new shares under general RE-REEBENRD (MEEN))
mandate (note (h)) 50,810 5,081
At 31 December 2023 at HK$0.1 per share R-ZB-=H+=-A=+-—H
REKR.1E R 3,601,767 360,177
Equivalent to RMB’000: ZEAREBTFT:
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—F#+-A=+—H 7,753
At 31 December 2023 R=B-=%+=-A=+—-H 318,424

RN BEROGERALA
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For the year

ended 31 December 2023

BE-F-_=F+-A=1—AILFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

144

On 13 January 2022, the share consolidation on the basis
of every ten issued and unissued existing shares of par value
HK$0.01 each into one consolidated share of par value HK$0.10
per each. The share consolidation were effective on 8 March
2022. Details of the above are set out in the Company’s
announcements and circulars dated 13 January 2022, 27 January
2022 and 4 March 2022 respectively.

On 13 April 2022, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with the subscribers pursuant to which the
subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, an
aggregate of 10,455,107 subscription shares at the subscription
price of HK$0.24 per subscription share. The subscription
was completed on 11 May 2022. The net proceeds from
the subscription, after deduction of share issue expenses of
approximately HK$0.10 million, was approximately HK$2.41
million (equivalent to approximately RMB2.05 million). Details
of the subscription were disclosed in announcements of the
Company dated 13 April 2022 and 11 May 2022.

On 5 July 2022, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with the subscribers pursuant to which the
subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, an
aggregate of 12,546,128 subscription shares at the subscription
price of HK$0.375 per subscription share. The subscription
was completed on 27 July 2022. The net proceeds from
the subscription, after deduction of share issue expenses of
approximately HK$0.08 million, was approximately HK$4.62
million (equivalent to approximately RMB4.0 million). Details
of the subscription were disclosed in announcements of the
Company dated 5 July 2022 and 27 July 2022.

On 3 November 2022, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent pursuant to which the
Company appointed the Placing Agent as its agent to procure
not less than six Placees to subscribe up to 15,055,354 Placing
Shares at a price of HK$0.52 per Placing Shares under general
mandate. The Placing was completed on 15 December 2022.
The net proceeds from the Placing (after deducting the placing
commission payable to the Placing Agent and other expenses
incurred in the Placing), after deduction of share issue expenses
of approximately HK$0.10 million, was approximately HK$7.73
million (equivalent to approximately RMB6.92 million). Details of
the Placing were disclosed in announcements of the Company
dated 23 November 2022, 24 November 2022 and 15 December
2022.
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RZE-_—_FWNA+=ZRH ARQRFHEHZE
RBATUZERBE RS Bt Z5RE
AEBRGRERE MARGEHIKE
A & B 2 N 3174 ££10,455,107 0% 2 BE A%
7 REBEABRRBIERD0.24% T - B
EHEER T _FHEA+—HZEK -
B EITHIL0I0EEBTZE R
BEBEMBRBFENERMEBET
(HERHARB205887T) - REEHE
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e)

On 4 January 2023, an aggregate of 3,262,705,241 Scheme
Shares were allotted and issued to the Scheme Creditors at the
agreed price of HK$0.317 per Scheme Share with totally of
approximately HK$1,034.28 million (equivalent to RMB911.50
million) for settlement of all the Admitted Claims of the Scheme
Creditors. Upon the completion of the settlement, approximately
HK$326.27 million (equivalent to RMB287.54 million) and
HK$1,566.10 million (equivalent to RMB1,380.19 million) were
credited against share capital and contributed surplus respectively.
Details of the above are set out in the Company’s announcements
and circulars dated 11 November 2020, 11 April 2022, 18 May
2022, 9 June 2022, 28 June 2022, 21 July 2022, 5 September
2022 and 4 January 2023 respectively.

On 8 June 2023, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent pursuant to which the
Company appointed the Placing Agent as its agent to procure
not less than six Placees to subscribe up to 200,000,000 Placing
Shares at a price of HK$0.49 per Placing Shares under general
mandate. The Placing was completed on 3 July 2023 and an
aggregate of 133,690,000 Placing Shares were successfully
placed. The net proceeds from the Placing (after deducting the
placing commission payable to the Placing Agent and other
expenses incurred in the Placing), after deduction of share issue
expenses of approximately HK$0.60 million, was approximately
HK$64.90 million (equivalent to approximately RMB60.14
million). Details of the Placing were disclosed in announcements
of the Company dated 8 June 2023 and 3 July 2023.

On 7 August 2023, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent pursuant to which the
Company appointed the Placing Agent as its agent to procure
not less than six Placees to subscribe up to 100,000,000 Placing
Shares at a price of HK$0.95 per Placing Shares under general
mandate. The Placing was completed on 30 August 2023 and an
aggregate of 64,230,000 Placing Shares were successfully placed.
The net proceeds from the Placing (after deducting the placing
commission payable to the Placing Agent and other expenses
incurred in the Placing), after deduction of share issue expenses
of approximately HK$0.40 million, was approximately HK$60.61
million (equivalent to approximately RMB56.40 million). Details
of the Placing were disclosed in announcements of the Company
dated 7 August 2023 and 30 August 2023.

On 27 September 2023, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent pursuant to which the
Company appointed the Placing Agent as its agent to procure not
less than six Placees to subscribe up to 100,000,000 Placing Shares
at a price of HK$0.95 per Placing Shares under general mandate.
The Placing was completed on 20 October 2023 and an aggregate
of 50,810,000 Placing Shares were successfully placed. The net
proceeds from the Placing (after deducting the placing commission
payable to the Placing Agent and other expenses incurred in the
Placing), after deduction of share issue expenses of approximately
HK$0.30 million, was approximately HK$47.96 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB44.98 million). Details of the Placing were
disclosed in announcements of the Company dated 27 September
2023 and 20 October 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = -—H=+—HIFZ
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(e)

R-E—_=F—AmA é/amzmam1
IRET B B ik e ER SR SR HG
03177 7T (#%5 £91,034.28@ &% 7t (18
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

B2 T - -—H=1—HIFFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

30.

146

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meeting of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company’s residual asset.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
capital structure of the Group comprises all components of
shareholders’ equity.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts,
redemption of existing debts or selling assets to reduce debts.
No change was made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the Group
is that in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange,
it has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares. The
Group has maintained a sufficient public float to comply with
the Listing Rules from the date of the Listing.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves
(a) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the difference between
the par value of the shares of the Company and proceeds
received from the issuance of the shares of the Company.

MOODY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
2023 Annual Report

29.

30.

B 7K (@)
TEBREBEEABERIDMTEERZEE
WEEEEARAIZAEG FIRGHR—RE
TRE-MEEBERMARBZRGEE
MEHNEZHERS -

AEEBGEERERLTHERRREARAE
EAENEEZE BRECERRRA
ERBEREHRZABH  AEBEHE R
RERREMARRERSD -

rEBEBREBEEAKNARESEELRE
EOEREEENEARB -AEEBE
BRI E BT E AR R A B B DA R B
THE ERRAEBRLEEENRD
EERFERBEAEE -BHE_T ==
ER_EBE__F+_A=+—HIEE"
EAEEMEBERZ BRRIBRIEMEDLT
EEEIK

ME—ShER R B A ER A AEE M
M EAEBRH Emame ERREFKR
BRI RKNHE25% - AEEB L HH
R-—EA#FEANRZFREUTA L
MR-

(K]
rEERFRBELREEHNEHERRE
feeml SRR HESEHRANZY

REHERAR

(a) BEHEE
EQRBEARFARNEERLRA
AR ATRR 19 18 10 AT 19 5A 2 BT 1
2



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & {3 Bt #& 3% 3R Mff 5

30. RESERVES (Continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Contributed surplus (continued)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available
for distribution. However the Company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

- it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby be
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium accounts.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group mainly represents the
reserve arising from the Group reorganisation.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the
Group's PRC subsidiaries’ articles of association, the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to allocate 10% of
its profit after tax as determined in accordance with the
relevant accounting principles and financial regulations
applicable to PRC companies to the statutory reserve until
such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital. The
appropriation to the reserve must be made before any
distribution of dividends to equity holders. The statutory
surplus reserve can be used to offset previous years'
losses, if any, and part of the statutory surplus reserve can
be capitalised as paid-in capital provided that the amount
of such reserve remaining after the capitalisation shall not
be less than 25% of the paid-in capital of the Group's
subsidiaries.

Translation reserve

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operation whose functional currency
is different from that of the Company’s functional
currency.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—F = -—H=+—HIFZ

30. f#fE @
EEHEERAZEw®
(a) EHEEG wm

REABRE-NN—FQRNE AR
A Z A BRRER A DK © fid HER A
TER BARRBAAIABARRE
TR SORBERR SAFH DK :

- HE(FINIERBER) REHEE
HzBE: =%

- HEEZUZREEALER
HB@ EEBHTRARBKN
B 2 HEE

(b) BEXFE

(c)

AEBEAFBIZERAEEEAR
EENEE-

EERE

BEFBRAGERANERF RN B
RAIMERMEA ANEEZHEKH
BRBIESEBERBRTERQG M
HEETRAURTBRECMETH
10%FHEFBBEBALCHE B2
ZAEERHEEREMEARS0% ©
BRIV ETMERSEADRER
B2 AT o A TE B R EE AT AR
HBTFEMNERE (ME) mIAD
EEBBREUENMEABERESR
HERCERBONZSHEBENSE
FEIRAEERNBARNERE
H)25% °

(d) EXZFE

EXFEEREARESIINER (H
NEEEBTRARARBNINEEER)
MM BHRARMELENMBINEER
E®-
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31. XX G EMRRAREFEERF
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) 2T EBARRE
Company

2023 2022
—EC-=F —EoF

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T

Non-current asset IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R BRRIEE 18,546 -
Current assets REEE
Deposits and other receivables R R H A EYIE 4,826 11,661
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UG B BB A B FA 24,029 -
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHEH 7,648 3
36,503 11,664
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables H A E A ROR 5,293 8,453
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAHB B A B) kI8 367 17,228
Borrowings Bx - 792,056
5,660 817,737
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE(AE)FHE 30,843 (806,073)
Total assets less current EEHABRRBERE
liabilities 49,389 (806,073)
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Borrowings B - 121,093
- 121,093
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BfE)FHE 49,389 (927,166)

1 48 MOODY TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
2023 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bf # 3R 3% fff &%

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31. KA R BRARREEE T

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY ()
(Continued)
(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) A2TEBBERRRE @

Company (continued)

2023 2022
—g== —z——

— e

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT ARBTIT

Equity &
Share capital [N 318,424 7,753
Reserves (note 30 (b)) & (MI5E30(b) ) (269,035) (934,919)
Total equity/(deficiency) BRER (AL 49,389 (927,166)
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of R-E-_NNE=ZA-_+\BEEZE
Directors on 28 March 2024. GHEE R T o
Li Wanyuan Liu Junting
=BT B3
EZE EZ
Director Director

RN BEROGERALA
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE=—F_=#{=A=1—HLFE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31. KA R BMBRIRERBEZEE S

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (47)
(Continued)
(b) Reserves movement of the Company (b) &R TEfEEEE

Other Accumulated
reserves losses Total

Hite Rt B )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR ARMTR

At 1 January 2022 RZE-__%—F—H 914,565 (1,741,522) (826,957)
Issue of new shares under general mandate RE—REEETHRD 4,225 - 4,225
Placing of new shares under general mandate REE—RZEEE R 5,664 - 5,664
Share issue expenses PR EITR S (251) - (251)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FREBREABELE - (117,600) (117,600)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZEZZF+ZA=+—HEK
“T-=%—-f—H 924,203 (1,859,122) (934,919)
Issue of Scheme Shares BT ERAG 1,380,187 - 1,380,187
Placing of new shares under general mandate BE-REEREH KRG 139,630 - 139,630
Share issue expenses BRpRTHE (1,236) - (1,236)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FRFERZEBREAE - (852,697) (852,697)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=%+=-A=+-H 2,442,784 (2,711,819) (269,035)
32. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 32. REMERRE

The Group as lessor EEBEREEA

Operating lease relate to investment property owned by the KEHEPRASEREENIREYWE HE

Group with lease terms of 5 years (2022: 5 years). The lessee HAERF (ZT_F 1F) AMAER

does not have options to extend the lease term and to purchase ERBEEHRNEERERSHEIEZME-

the property at the expiry of the lease period.

The unguaranteed residual values do not represent a significant AERFABEHAEEMS L MEXKE
risk for the Group, as they relate to property which is located KER EREzZEEERENDELRE

in a location with a constant increase in value over the least LPAFAEEE TEIEINEHER Lo REE
5 years. The Group did not identify and indications that this WEHE BB RERA LB ERE -

situation will change.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

32. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (continued) 32. KREHFEARE @

The Group as lessor (continued) EEBEREEA @
Minimum lease payments receivables on leases are as follows: HEMNSEERAESROT
2023 AP
—E== —_F_—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R AR®ETT
Within 1 year E—FNA 1,256 1,176
In the second year EF 1,160 1,104
In the third year E=F 660 1,080
In the fourth year FIF 80 580
In the fifth year FRF 80 -~
3,236 3,940

The following table presents the amounts reported in profit or

loss:

TREJNBRRENTRE:

2023
===

—_—

RMB’000
ARBT R

2022
= —

=

RMB'000
AREFTT

Lease income on operating lease mEREHES KA 1,357 1,460

RN BEROGERALA
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

33.

34.

152

B2 T - -—H=1—HIFFE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the course of business, the Group has been involved
in litigations initiated by various suppliers, customers and
lenders concerned with the contract disputes, quality of goods
and repayment of debts, including claims of insignificant
or unspecified amounts. Some of the litigations have been
concluded by the court and/or settled, while some of the
litigations are still pending judgement. Since the Group has
already accounted for these payables in the consolidated
financial statements, the directors are of the view that the
litigations will not have any significant financial impact to the
Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The emoluments of directors and other
members of key management during the year
was as follows:

33.

34.

FREE
AEEBREKBECESZEHHER-
BEFREFAREGNMD EmERIE
BEEREZHD BREBLTEARX
WARFTASEZRE -G FAAE BIARR
RN R AR RN R EUR o
HRASREERAEHMBERRCTEZF
ENRIE WEZTR/ZEFLETSY
AEEELEERERMBEE -

BEHAERS
FREERHMTEESEASHM
£WMT:

2023 2022
— 2= —EF-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETIT
Fees we 232 218
Other emoluments H A&
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 875 1,289
Retirement benefit scheme RARTE T &I R
contributions 34 41
909 1,330
1,141 1,548

Further details of emoluments of directors and other members
of key management during the year are set out in notes 14 and
15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

(a)

The table set forth below is the detail changes in the
Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-F-=F#{-A=t—ALFE

35. EOFIREMEBRME

METHELENEGEYHER

T%Eitﬁ%%ﬂﬁiﬁ@]?iﬁ’]%
EONEE BRECNIIFRSE
BMELRBFMELAGBEREIRE
EAiﬁkmfﬁéﬁEHﬂ’\\ﬁﬁl/\ﬁ
ReREXTHERBRELTHE SR
mMENaE-

Ee Lease
Borrowings Bonds liabilities Total
RITER &% HEAE )
RMB‘000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%STr AR%Tn AR%¥TR AR%¥Tx
At 1 January 2022 WZZE-—_F—A—H 163,312 807,632 424 971,368
Cash flow Bene (435) - (498) (933)
Gain on the termination BiEFRREERS
of right-of-use assets - - (326) (326)
Additions NE - - 715 715
Interest expenses FIERX 15,551 36,988 46 52,585
Transfer to interest BRAEMNFE
payables (15,454) - - (15,454)
Exchange difference MEHESE - 68,529 23 68,552
At 31 December 2022 and E’\fgiiiﬂ‘_ﬂ*ﬂ‘ H
1 January 2023 —E-=F—H—H 162,974 913,149 384 1,076,507
Cash flow iﬁﬁrﬁ (20,944) - (2,820) (23,764)
Acquisition of subsidiaries Y& KB 2 7 59,368 - 446 59,814
Settlement of bonds by ZEBRETRHLEEES
issuing shares - (911,499) - (911,499)
Termination of lease RIEHE - - (105) (105)
Additions wE - - 6,879 6,879
Interest expenses MEHX 20,300 - 226 20,526
Transfer to interest BREESFIE
payables (18,268) - - (18,268)
Exchange difference ERELR (3.059) (1,650) @ (4,713)
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-=%+=ZHA=+—-H 200,371 - 5,006 205,377
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2023 FEWRE

153



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3t Bt i sk R M &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35. 8§t & REXMT @w
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) HERESRHHALKE
Amounts included in the statement of cash flow for leases SFTAHERSRERNESEBEEN
comprise the following: TIEA

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTIT

Within operating cash flows REEHESMEN 226 46
Within financing cash flows RRERSREN 2,594 452
2,820 498

These amounts relate to the following: ZEoEENTIHE BB :

2023 2022
=== e —

—_—=<—— —_—= ==

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBTIT

Lease rental paid ENEERS 2,820 498
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-F-=F+ - A=t—HALFE

36. SUBSIDIARIES 36. M8 2 &
Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries as at 31 December MR_E—=FR_FB__F+-_A=+—
2023 and 2022 are as follows: H ARGIMEBRARZFBEWNT :

Percentage of
Place of incorporation/  Registered/issued ownership Principal activities and
establishment and paid up capital interest place of operation

B/ BEf EREERAE

AL/ B RARRE B IERRRECHE
2023

.

5=

Potent Union Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands ~ US$200 Direct 100% Direct 100%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
("BvI")
FEERERAT EERAES W07 B100% BRI00%  REBR FE
([#BRLHE]
Digital Assets Group Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Direct 100% Direct 100%  Dormant, Hong Kong
HFEEEEARAT 2 10,0007 B100% ER100%  EEHEY BR
Jade Pearl International Limited BVl US$50,000 Direct 100% - Investment holding, Hong Kong
RBRLHE 50,0005 BH#100% - RE®R Bk
Ultima Prime International Limited BVl US$50,000 Direct 100% Direct 100%  Dormant, Hong Kong
AERAES 50,0005 B1£100% BRI00%  EXBED FR
Moody Group (Int’l) Ho\dmg Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Indirect 100%  Indirect 100%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
MHEE (B RAERAT B 10,000/ 7 i 100% FIE100%  RERR B4
Shishi City Yingfeiling Supply Chain Management Limited* ~ The PRC HK$520,000,000 Indirect 100%  Indirect 100%  Investment holding, the PRC
AR ARAHEEERARAT G 520,000,000 ¢ R1100% BE00%  REER 8
Fengtai Hubei Textile Co., Limited* The PRC RMB50,000,000 Indirect 100%  Indirect 100%  Manufacturing and sales of fabrics, the PRC
LR HEER AT P ARES0000000  FEE100% BE100%  EEREERH T
Hongtai (Hubei) Sales Co., Limited* The PRC RMB2,000,000 Indirect 100% Indirect 100%  Sales of fabrics, the PRC
ERCHL) 2 HERA G AR 2,000,0007 Fi100% B100%  HE@K - RE
Shishi Hongtai Supply Chain Management Co, Limited*  The PRC RMB1,000,000 Indirect 100% ~ Indirect 100%  Dormant, the PRC
REmEAERERER LA e AF%1,000,0007 B1%100% Bi00%  EXKED PE
Guangzhou Seojin Trading Co., Limited* The PRC RMB500,000 Indirect 100% ~ Indirect 100%  Trading of shoes and clothes, the PRC
ENEERZARAA t AR 500,000 F100% BEI00%  EBERREES $E
Guangzhou Seojin Trading Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$500,000 Indirect 100%  Indirect 100%  Trading of shoes and clothes, Hong Kong
ENEERAARAA B 500,000/ F%100% BiE00%  ERRERRES B
Linyi Hanyuan Trading Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 Indirect 100%  Indirect 100%  Dormant, Hong Kong
BrEREHERAA B 1,000,000 B100% BRI00%  EXHED BE
Moody Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Indirect 100%  Indirect 100%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
WEHERAA 3 10,0007 B100% BEI00%  REZRR BE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-F-_=F+-A=+—HALFE

36. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 36. B~ 7 @
Percentage of
Place of incorporation/  Registered/issued ownership Principal activities and
establishment and paid up capital interest place of operation
B/ 2% BRERRA
ERMRYL/ FRLBE RERBRE ARt TERBREERY
2023
“EBC-CE
Moody International Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Indirect 100%  Indirect 100%  Dormant, Hong Kong
MHEREAHERAT & 10,0007 FI%100% BI#%100% BEBEY BA
Shenzhen Mandi Consultant Co., Ltd* The PRC RMBS5,000,000 Indirect 100%  Indirect 100%  Dormant, the PRC
AR EERERAR i ARE50000000  RE100% BiEI00%  BEREH 78
Hongtai Mandi Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Limited* The PRC RMB5,000,000 Indirect 100% Indirect 100%  Investment holding, the PRC
EERERE (R ERAF P AR 5,000,007 FI#%100% BR100%  REBR BE
Hongtai Mandi Technology (Zhuhai) Co., Limited* The PRC RMB5,000,000 Indirect 100% Indirect 100%  Dormant, the PRC
EEMEHE (K8 ERAT G ARH5,000,0007C F#100% BEI00%  EXKEY 1H
Shishi Meiyina Clothing Co. Limited* The PRC RMB1,000,000 Indirect 100%  Indirect 100%  Manufacturing and sales of clothes, the PRC
RBEEKBRAERAR Gl ARH1,000,0007 B%100% BEI00%  EERHERE F
Hongtai Mandi Technology (Zhuhai) Co., Limited* The PRC RMB5,000,000 Indirect 100% - Dormant, the PRC
ERREHE (K8 ARA G ARE5000000  RE100% - EZBED P
Leader Elastic Limited* Hong Kong HK$52,500,000 Indirect 80.95% - Investment holding and wholesale and
retail of elastic webbings, Hong Kong
HEBEENARLR g 52,500,000 7T Mi8095% - REBBRBERTERLAS B
Zhuhai Sundust Apparel Company Limited** The PRC RMB70,000,000 Indirect 68.11% - Investment holding and manufacturing of
elastic webbings, the PRC
WEAFNRRABRART G AR®0000000  REEBN1% - RERRREERESS HE
Sundust (Hong Kong) Company Limited® Hong Kong HK$11,628,000 Indirect 68.11% - Wholesale and retail of elastic webbings,
Hong Kong
A (BR)BRAA g 11,628,007 Mi6s.11% - HERTERMES AR
Zhuhai Hongli Yongtai Investment Co., Limited** The PRC RMB95,000,000 Indirect 68.11% - Investment holding and assets management,
the PRC
WEARXFRERRAT HE AE®95,000000T  REEEBN1% - RERRREEEE THE
Zhuhai Hongli Shengtai Investment Co., Limited** The PRC RMB25,000,000 Indirect 68.11% - Investment holding and assets management,
the PRC
HELNEREERRAT HE AR®250000000  REEEB1% - RERRREEEE THE
Guangdong Hongli Flow Technology Co., Limited* The PRC RMB10,000,000 Indirect 47.68% - Information transmission, software and
mformation techno\ogy services, the PRC
ERAFRENRARRA Gz AE®10000000  EE4768% - [EaEE RHRESRNRE TE
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36. SU BSIDIARI ES (Continued)

Place of incorporation/  Registered/issued
establishment and paid up capital

gt/ E&f

AL/ BT RARKRA

36. [t &A= @

Percentage of
ownership
interest
ERERLAME
ARl

2023

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-F-=F+ - A=t—HALFE

Principal activities and
place of operation

IEXBREEHY

Zhuhai Hongli Ribbon Co., Limited** The PRC RMBS5,000,000
KELFSEERAA Gl AR 5,000,0007
Suzhou Hongli Textile Technology Co., Limited* The PRC RMB5,000,000
AN GEHRBERAR G AR5,000,0007C
Moody International Holdings Limited BVI -

ERRRER -
Moody Internet Group Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
MY ERRERERAA 3 10,0007
Mandi Internet Technology (Zhuhai) Co., Limited* The PRC RMBS5,000,000
M EBERE (R8) BB AR T AR5,000,0007
Moody Holdings Co., Limited BVI -

ERRRER -
Moody Voice Technology Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$1
MEEHRERAT B3 iz
Guangzhou Xindi Culture and Technology Co, Limited* ~ The PRC RMB1,000,000
BMSH U REERAT Gl AR 1,000,000

* The English translation of the company names is for reference only. The

official names of these companies are in Chinese. The companies are
registered as limited liability companies under the PRC law.

# The Companies were acquired by the Group on 28 April 2023.

“BC-CE

Indirect 68.11%

FIH68.11%

Indirect 68.11%

R%68.11%

Direct 100.00%

E£100.00%

Indirect 100.00%
F1#100.00%

Indirect 100.00%

1%100.00%

Direct 100.00%

E£100.00%

Indirect 100.00%
F1#100.00%

Indirect 100.00%

FE100.00%

Manufacturing, textile of fabrics and dyeing,
the PRC
EE AHERRAE TE

Scientific research and technical services
and technology promotion and
application services, the PRC

MERRRHMERBURRIERR
ERRE 8

Investment holding, BVI

RARR RERLES

Investment holding, Hong Kong

RERR FAE

Scientific research and technical services
and technology promotion and
application services, the PRC

MERRRHMERBURRIERR
ERRE 8

Investment holding, BVI

RARR RERLES

Investment holding, Hong Kong

BREER FA

Investment holding and assets management,
the PRC
REARRAERE T8

NGBS FES S E T T LI e Ny

o) EE%%@EEF'X %L A RRE S B

ZFMABRA

# :

ZERFHAEER T -_=FMNA
ity NSRS

iR E RS ERA A 157
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

36.

37.

158

B2 T - -—H=1—HIFFE

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the bank and cash balances of the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately RMB3,943,000 (2022: RMB531,000). Conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations. However, under the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group's subsidiaries
in the PRC is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 28 April 2023, the Group completed the acquisition of
80.95% equity interests of Leader Elastic, a company with
limited liability incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong.
Leader Elastic owns approximately 84.14% issued share
capital of Zhuhai Sundust Apparel Co. Ltd, a public company
established in the PRC whose shares are listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations in the PRC (stock code:
832674). The principal activity of Leader Elastic and its
subsidiaries is investment holding and sales of elastic webbing
used for bras, underwear in the PRC. The consideration for the
acquisition was HK$21,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB18,546,000).

The acquisition was in line with the Company’s business
strategy to expand the Company’s business in the production
and the sales of elastic webbing used for bras and underwear,
and strengthen the products, revenue sources and cash flow
position of the Group in future.
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36.

37.

Vo= NGIRE )

R-ZZE-_=F+-A=1+—8 AEERFTER
WBRARIUARBABHNETRIBSEHOA
AR 3,943,000t ( —E = —F : AR#¥531,000
To) o ARSI INE BB ST RBEM (IMNE
BIEIEH) FlKEE -SEERNEETERT) - A
mRERR OMNEBEBRIGH) & (EE EER
HEZEEEM)  AEBRFPBAMN BRG] E
BERERRIMNMEXE 2FITHEARELIBKE

W HE B B A A

RZEBE-_=FWA -+ B AEETK
U B 1) 32 588 1 B ) 980,95 % % #EE - FI) iz
BUEBYAE - ZFXBREEB EEFMK L
B A PR A 7)o FIJ 32 588 10 4% 0 E B BK08 5L FI
fREmARDBR AR (—HRFPEKZHAD
FAaEERGRAPEZE S /N ERD
ERAGEERT S (FHNRT 832674) )
BRITIR AN AI84.14% = P E B M 4% &
EMBRARIZEZEBAKEERER
BB S B PR ST K2 1A 7R A 58 M A T o Uk
fEME /21,000,000 L (HERDOAR
#18,546,0007T ) °

ZWBFEARAMEBRE AIRRA
RAAR X EARNEEE TR E
MIHEXEH  BRRKERARENER -
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37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
No acquisition related cost was incurred for the
acquisition
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Leader
Elastic Group acquired during the year ended 31 December
2023 as at the date of acquisition is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BPE_FE_=F T H=1+—HIFE

37. WIEF B 2 B @

Z WU I A R R AR R Y R AR

REBEE T -_=F+_A=1+—HIFE
WETUBE R B M &S BN I8 B
MABNEERBENRATFESHYIMOT

RMB’000
ARBT T

Property, plant and equipment W% BB M 26,161

Right-of-use assets EAEEE 11,230

Inventories 58 41,557

Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b [ U SR IE 12,952

Bank and cash balances RTINS R 15,689

Trade and other payables B 5 & E b S 5RIE (8,275)
Lease liabilities HEAE (446)
Current tax liabilities IR ER=R (212)
Deferred tax liabilities BELEFIEAE (2,147)
Bank borrowings RITER (59,368)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value EBEAFEHFECTHANEE FERRE 37,141

Non-controlling interests AR (18,595)
Total consideration BwRE 18,546

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition: KEEzREREDN:

Cash and cash equivalent acquired W Re KRS EEY 15,689

Purchase consideration transferred HEEAENRE (18,546)
Net cash flow on acquisition WhE 2 e mE 5 (2,857)

The non-controlling interests in Leader Elastic Group of
approximately RMB18,595,000 recognised at the acquisition
date was measured with reference to the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of net assets of
Leader Elastic Group at that date.

PRUEE B BRI R A = o I A W & B Ay 3
T REZE A AR 18,595,000 Jh 2 BR3E
TRERELOIEEF EEEEYEE
RZBFEEAFENMDENTE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

37.

38.

160

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

No acquisition related cost was incurred for the
acquisition (continued)

Since the acquisition, Leader Elastic Group has contributed
revenue of approximately RMB43,076,000 to the Group's
turnover and loss of approximately RMB10,516,000 to the
Group's profit for the period between the date of acquisition
and the end of reporting period. Had the acquisition been
completed on 1 January 2023, the consolidated pro forma
revenue and loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 would
have been approximately RMB48,391,000 and RMB17,981,000
respectively.

The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of the total revenue and profit
after tax of the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been taken place at the beginning of the
year, nor is intended to be a projection of future results.

PARTLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amounts before
inter-company eliminations.

Name of the subsidiary

MEARERE

Leader Elastic Limited Hong Kong
MzEBEEMAR AR o
Zhuhai Sundust Apparel Co. Limited The PRC
WA B A AR AR a2

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.
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Principal place of business

TEEXMEH

WHE KB A 7] @

52 W B 0 4 7 A B UK B AR B Y R AR
(#8)

BUWBEBLR  FlEBEBYEREAREE
K& =B AR AL AR A43,076,0007T -
AAEERKEEBERSHARMENE
[Ef &5 18 49 A R #510,516,0007T ° {4 Uk B8 7
—E-=F—A—HER BE_ZT_=
F+ZA=-T+—BHLEFENRAHZSK
=LEBEBD A ARYEA8,391,0005T
M AR #17,981,0007C °

BEERERGAZR T —EXRAARE
ERFNETRERERERNAKS
Remigm A - IREEFRR R RS -

BREEAFEREZNFEE
BHKE QA

IELYEESY ] EP AT §-
([3EiRiEzs]) 2 HBARER FT27)
ZHBERBBIEARBERN 2 0.

Percentage of equity interest held
by noncontrolling interests
FERERFTERETDL
Direct Indirect

=8:3 ) 2

19.05% -
- 31.89%

NEBREREETBREAKERE BE
HBENHERRFS-
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38. PARTLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 38 EEE ARFERERNIELRE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BEMEQT @

(Continued)

Leader Elastic Limited

HERHANERAT

2023
e

—F—-=

Co. Limited
2023
“B-ZE

REANMERAERAT
Zhuhai Sundust Apparel

Principal place of business/country FEEENY/HRRUER Hong Kong - PRC -
of incorporation

B - ] -

% of ownership interest/voting 19.05% - 31.89% -

rights held by NCI

FRREEHENEERES/
REEMEENL

RMBS'000

RMBS$'000 RMBS'000

RMBS$'000

At 31 December 2023

RZBZZF+ZA=1-H

ARBT T

ARBFT AR TR

ARETTR

Non-current assets FrRegE 31,017 - 52,902 -

Current assets TEEE 107,660 - 54,524 -

Current liabilities nEaE (73,698) - (29,226) -

Net assets BERE 64,979 - 78,200 -

Accumulated NCI Zit RS 12,379 - 24,938 -

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE-T-=H+-A=T-RLEE

Revenue Wz 30,964 - 16,649 -

Profit/(loss) &/ (B8) 1 - (10,247) -

Total comprehensive incomef(loss) Rk (BB 88 1 - (10,247) -

Profit/(oss) allocated to NC| AETIHEREROET/ (BB 0 - (3.268) -

Total comprehensive incomef(loss) PETHERESNEANS/ (BR) 0 - (3,268) -
allocated to NCI EE

Net cash (used in)/generated from RETEE(F) /ELRL5E (7,991) - 33,142 -
operating activities

Net cash generated from/(used in) REEHMEL/ (B)Re5E 118 - (11,401) -
investing activities

Net cash used in financing activities REEHHAELFE (3,064) - (20,086) -

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NEEZZEHNT 2 1,007 - - -

MR ERAAERLQT
2023 FEWRE

161



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & ff Bt # 3R 3% fff &F

For the year ended 31 December 2023

39.

40.

162

B2 T - -—H=1—HIFFE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Reference is made to the announcement of the Group dated
4 January 2024 in relation to memorandum of understanding
(the "MOU") in respect of a possible acquisition (the "Possible
Acquisition”). Pursuant to the MOU, the Group intends to
acquire and obtain from a seller, and the seller intends to sell
and transfer to the Company, approximately 20-28% of the
entire issued share capital of a target company, China Tian
YF Holdings Group Limited (the “Target Company”) An initial
deposit of HK$2,000,000 had been paid to the seller after the
date of the MOU and will be applied towards the payment of
the consideration for the shares of the Target Company subject
to due execution of the definitive transaction documents.
The Possible Acquisition is subject to, among other things,
the negotiation and execution of the definitive transaction
documents. The Group therefore may or may not proceed with
the Possible Acquisition.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements are approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March
2024.
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WmEHEZESE

IR AEBBPAE-_T_NE— ANAE
ARG RNABHE—EAgkEEE ([T
REWEEE]NREBEESE ([REES
8 - BEFRBESE AEEEERNE
FREBIES mMEAFABEERARARLE
FEZEEZEAFNTREREEERERA
RARI(TEERAAEIMEHEITRALY
20%E28% - Rar B e AEEEME
7 XA H A ¥ 42,000,000 T H i
BEURBRT G HEARSIHEERARZ
BORE-AIEEEEHEAR (EP2E)
EEREI SRR GXFBEAAIEE A
o AEBMARMSETAIEKREEE.

BES O BE®RER

AHMBHRRENR_ZT_NF=A=-1+N
REEESHAESLRKETIE-



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEHE

OPERATING RESULTS REHEE

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HLEE

2022 2021

=

PR

Revenue (RMB'000) Wigz (AREF) 140,296 90,544 155,541 206,666 517,665
Gross profit/(loss) (RMB'000) £,/ (8) (AREFL) 14,810 7,3% 3,627 (12,315) 11,019
Gross profit/(loss) margin EH,/ (B)% 10.55% 8.2% 2.3% (6.0%) 2.1%

Loss and total comprehensive income KAREENEEEER
attributable to owners of the Company 2 EMEAZE

(RMB'000) (AREF) (811,388) (140,498) (100,528) (219,049) (287,608)
Net loss margin RERX 5.78% 155.2% (64.6%) (106.0%) (55.6%)
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET EHEEEER
The following table sets forth our assets/liabilities position as at FERFHIMNEMINR T —LF T _FTF .=
31 December 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023: T - F ZE-__FR-_ZF-_=F+=A1

=t+t—HWEE AEHRR:

As at 31 December
Rt=A=t-H
2023 2022 2021 202 2019

—EBC= ZTCCE ToTE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TR AREBTE ARETT ARETT ARETR

Current assets MEBEE 100,153 58,006 21,503 53,509 120,765
Current liabilities MEEE (439,941) (1,284,755 (1,093,130) (983,267) (816,853)
Net current liabilities MEAETE (339,788)  (1,226,749)  (1,071,627) (929,758) (696,088)
Net liabilities BEFE (146,126)  (1,175335)  (1,047,797) (959,287) (759,788)

RN BEROGERALA
2023 Efg‘;&% 163



FINANCIAL SUMMARY 81 B E

FINANCIAL INDICATORS

BBER

Year ended 31 December

BZE+-A=t-ALEE

Return on equity (%) (Note 1) FRANEI SR (%) (Pi3E1) N/A FiE
Return on assets (%) (Note 2) BERRE%) (H:F2) (263.0)
Interest coverage ratio (Note 3) FISEEZ (F3) (39.8)

2022 2021
“E-—F
N/A T N/A T N/A T N/A T
(57.8) (44.1) (78.2) (62.5)
27 (15) a7 (1.9

As at 31 December
R+=A=1+-H

Current ratio (%) (Note 4) RN R (%) (Pi3E4) 228
Quick ratio (%) (Note 5) RN R (%) (PFE5) 122
Debt to equity ratio (%) (Note 6) BB ALK (%) (Fi36) N/A REH
Gearing ratio (%) (Note 7) B AL (%) (57) N/A R

Notes:

W)

164

Return on equity was calculated based on our total comprehensive
income for the respective year divided by the total equity of the
respective year and multiplied by 100%.

Return on assets was calculated based on our loss and total
comprehensive income for the respective year divided by our total assets
of the respective year and multiplied by 100%.

Interest coverage ratio was calculated based on our loss for the year for
the respective year divided by our finance costs for the respective year.

Current ratio were calculated based on our current assets of the
respective date divided by our current liabilities of the respective date
and multiplied by 100%.

Quick ratio were calculated based on our current assets minus
inventories as at the respective date divided by our current liabilities as
at the respective date and multiplied by 100%.

Debt to equity ratio were calculated based on our total debts (being
sum of our total borrowings and amounts due to related parties and
third parties) as at the respective date divided by total equity as at the
respective year and multiplied by 100%.

Gearing ratio were calculated based on our net debts (being total debts
net of cash and cash equivalents) as at the respective date divided by
total equity as at the respective year and multiplied by 100%.
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45 2.0 5.4 14.8
37 18 5.1 94

N/A TN N/A T i N/A i N/A i

N/A T N/A i N/A T N/A i

GEE

() BARFRENZEEFEEZMBNEAERIAGH
FE AR BRIA100%:TE -

(2) EBERFERNEZEEFEBHEREZAKGSEER
ABRAFEEEEBEBTRIAI00%:TE -

(B) HMEBEXRNEREMFEZFEBERUABETF
ERRERATE-

(4) RBLEDIEEEAHRNRBEERIAER A
R E B EERIA100%:TE -

(5) FEHLEEDEEEAHNRDEERETERR
NEBBBREBEERAI00%:TE -

(6) EBRALEDILZAEBEBPNEBEEERER
BEEARNER S REZFRENEN)BRIAE
FAFERERBERIN00%TE -

(7) RZBEREDZEHEAHAMESFE (BES

BEHNGRRERREEE
= EFELA100%ETE -

) BRIAR R F R AR
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